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Public Entity’s General Information
Registered Name:
Nelson Mandela Museum

Registered Office and Postal Address:
Physical Address:         Postal Address:
Cnr Nelson Mandela Drive & Owen Street  PO Box 52808
Bhunga Building, Mthatha. 5099     Mthatha. 5099
Telephone No. 047 532 5110      e-mail: mandelamuseum@intekom.co.za   
Fax No. 047 532 3345        Website: www.nelsonmandelamuseum.org.za

External Auditors:
Auditor General of South Africa
(043) 709 7200
Sivuyile Ndabambi, Sivuyilen@agsa.co.za

Museum Bankers:
ABSA Bank Limited
Sutherland Street
Mthatha

Company Secretary
MR Guy Rich
GMR Consultants
Vincent
East London

Acronyms
AGM   Annual General Meeting
MGE   Mzansi’s Golden Economy
CEO   Chief Executive Officer
CFO   Chief Financial Officer
AGSA   Auditor General of South Africa
PFMA   Public Finance Management Act
TR    Treasury Regulations
BBBEE   Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment
IPAP   Industrial Policy Action Plan
ANC   African National Congress
SABC   South African Broadcasting Corporation
CCTV   Close Circuit Television
BBC   British Broadcasting Corporation
CCMA   Commission for Conciliation, Mediation and Arbitration
CNN   Central News Network
NMM   Nelson Mandela Museum
HOD   Head of Department
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Strategic Overview:
1.1  VISION
    Inspire positive change in society through the legacy and values of Nelson Mandela

1.2 Mission
   A centre of excellence that preserves the legacy, disseminates knowledge, interprets and upholds values of Nelson 

Mandela to promote social cohesion and nation building

1.3 Values
   The following values will inspire the leadership and staff of the museum and will become an organic part of the 

iconic posture the museum will assume as a centre for cultural life: 

Values Meaning

Ubuntu To help without looking for personal gain

Stewardship Custodians of Nelson Mandela’s legacy

Integrity To inculcate honesty and respect

Service excellence To ensure qualitative and satisfactory service delivery

Development and learning To be the hub of information sharing

Innovation To be creative in developing new ideas

1.4 Strategic Outcomes Oriented Goals
No Strategic Goal Sub-programme

1 Improve and Maintain Heritage Development 
and Conservation

1.1 Collections and Research
1.2 Exhibitions

2 Improved Public Profile and Access 2.1 Education and Outreach
2.2 Communications and Public Relations
2.3 Tours

3 Vibrant Programming that Promotes the 
Economic Opportunities for the Community

3.1 Conferences and Accommodation Facilities
3.2 Youth and Heritage Centre

4 Sound and Effective Governance 4.1 Chief Executive Office
4.2 Corporate Services
4.3 Chief Financial office
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1.5 Legislative and Other Mandates
   The Nelson Mandela Museum is a Schedule 3A Public Entity under the PFMA

   1.5.1 Constitutional Mandates
Source Directives in terms of the constitution

Constitution of the Republic of 
South Africa

Recognises the injustices of the past; Honour those who suffered for justices 
and freedom in our land; Respect those who have worked to build and 
develop our country.  Adopted this Constitution to:
Heal the divisions of the past and establish a society based on democratic 
values, social justice and fundamental human rights.

   1.5.2 Legislative Mandates
	 	 	 	 	 	 •	 Cultural	Institutions	Act,	119	of	1998,	as	amended,
	 	 	 	 	 	 •	 National	Heritage	Resources	Act,	25	of	1999,
	 	 	 	 	 	 •	 Public	Finance	Management	Act	1	of	1999	as	amended	and	Treasury	Regulations,
	 	 	 	 	 	 •	 Labour	Relations	Act,	66	of	1995,	
	 	 	 	 	 	 •	 Basic	Conditions	of	Employment	Act,	5	of	1997,
	 	 	 	 	 	 •	 Employment	Equity	Act	No	55	of	1998,
	 	 	 	 	 	 •	 Public	Service	Regulations	R1	of	5	January	2001	as	amended,
	 	 	 	 	 	 •	 Electronic	Communications	and	Transactions	act,	25	of	2002,
	 	 	 	 	 	 •	 Preferential	Procurement	Policy	Framework	Act,	50	of	2000,
	 	 	 	 	 	 •	 Promotion	of	Access	to	Information	Act,	2	of	2000.

   1.5.3 Policy Mandates 
	 	 	 	 	 	 •	 Deed	of	Donation	between	Arts	and	Culture	and	President	Nelson	Mandela,	2005.
	 	 	 	 	 	 •	 White	Paper	on	Arts	and	Culture,	1996.
	 	 	 	 	 	 •	 Policy	Paper	on	Legacy	Projects,	2007.
	 	 	 	 	 	 •	 Public	Sector	Transformation,	1995.
	 	 	 	 	 	 •	 Broad-Based	Black	Economic	Empowerment	(BBBEE)	Framework,	2007.	
	 	 	 	 	 	 •	 Performance	Management	and	Development	System,	2010.
	 	 	 	 	 	 •	 Mzansi’s	Golden	Economy	and	Industrial	Policy	Action	Plan	(IPAP2),	2011.	
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This year the Nelson Mandela celebrated 15 years since it 
was established by the democratic state. On the 5 December 
2015 the museum will also be commemorating the second 
anniversary since President Nelson Mandela passed on. 
The 5th of December 2013 will forever be ingrained in our 
minds as one of the sad days when we lost the father of the 
nation. These days, when he was born and when he was 
released from prison, will also be forever embedded in our 
memories. 

Invariably, in 2014, we dedicate substantial time in re-
examining our vision, from that of celebrating a living 
icon to that of living his values. In terms of developing an 
inclusive vision of how we should remember our icon, we 
have planned to hold 12 platforms in different provinces as 
part of a consultative process and sharing of information. 
These platforms will take the form of lectures, seminars, 
colloquiums and conferences. These should involve all the 
people of South Africa, because Nelson Mandela belonged 
to all of us, “united in our diversity,” to borrow from the 
Preamble of our Constitution.

Some of the important issues that begin to be pointed out 
in these seminars are that, Nelson Mandela was an agent 
of change, who promoted active citizenship in a non-racial 
and no-sexist society. His presidency clearly demonstrated 
these values. As the Council of the Nelson Mandela 
Museum, we are determined to follow in his footsteps of 
building an inclusive society. Our new 5 years strategic 
plan that started operating this year (2015) as our guide on 
how to promote and conserve his legacy is a testimony to 
this. The strategic plan is also embedded in the delivery of 
outcome 14 of the National plan, which focuses on nation 
building and social cohesion.

We also pledge that the museum will continue with its 
programmes, that are aimed at attracting young people 
from countries that have experienced conflict based on 
ethnicity, race, gender and sexuality in what is called the 
“other” and provide space for them to interact with their 
peers in the belief that they will emulate Nelson Mandela 

Foreword by the Chairperson
and champion the freedom of others, as they propagate 
values of democracy, non-racialism, non-sexism, equality 
and human rights.

We also note that, the Bhunga building completion has 
delayed more than expected. We acknowledge that this 
caused some unhappiness among the tour operators, for 
this we sincerely apologise. We are however hopeful that 
all the snags in the building are being addressed and the 
museum will be in a position to announce to all South 
Africans when the museum will be opened to the public.

The Nelson Mandela Museum and its Council is grateful for 
the support it receives from the Departments of Arts and 
Culture in all its challenges. It is especially grateful for this 
support that it continues to receive in terms of capacitating 
the museum. We appreciate the support that we received 
from the SABC that continue to broadcast some of our 
critical activities and the computers that they donated to 
the museum for use by the community. These computers 
were used by the SABC during the funeral of the late 
President Nelson Mandela. We hope that this cooperation 
will continue beyond this period and will extend to the 
sharing of research and content about Nelson Mandela and 
his contemporaries. 

I mention this because South Africa is championing an 
important project, the “Liberation Heritage Route” of which 
our museum and other sites of significance associated 
with Nelson Mandela are identified as part of sites that will 
anchor the heritage liberation route in the Eastern Cape. 
Archives of the SABC are also an important component in 
the liberation route and in narrating the story of Nelson 
Mandela and the liberation struggle in South Africa. 

On behalf of the Nelson Mandela Museum, we invite all 
communities to walk this road with us in making sure that 
the narrative of Nelson Mandela and the liberation struggle 
is properly interpreted and championed by all South 
Africans in a global context.

Mrs Nozuko Yokwana
Chairperson: Nelson Mandela Museum
Date:	29	July	2015	
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On	the	26	 June	2015,	South	Africans	celebrated	 the	60th	
year of the Freedom Charter. The Freedom Charter was 
adopted by the people of South Africa in the Congress of the 
People	that	congregated	in	Kliptown	near	Johannesburg	in	
1955. It is said that Nelson Mandela, Walter Sisulu and many 
other leaders of the people could not attend the historic 
congress because of banning orders. However, they were 
determined that they would not miss such an important 
events, and as such secretly watched its proceedings from 
near by houses. This is significant because the Freedom 
Charter forms the backbone of our new Constitution that 
was adopted in 1996. This is evident by the Preamble of 
both the Freedom Charter and the Constitution. 

The foreword by our chairperson points to the exciting 
journey that the museum is travelling with the adoption of 
the new strategic plan that begins to bring to life the ideas 
in which the Freedom Charter represents which Nelson 
Mandela declared in the Rivonia Trial that he is prepared 
to die for. 

While the new strategic plan charts a new path that seeks 
to “inspire positive change in society through the legacy 
and values of Nelson Mandela,” the museum also continues 
to take on board those programmes that were inspiring to 
young people.

Some of these programmes are the youth camps that 
are annually held by the museum. These youth camps 
bring together young South Africans to the home of 
Nelson Mandela in Qunu to engage each other on a 
number issues using the arts. In the past few years, camp 

participants left the camp more determined to work for 
a better South Africa, a South Africa that respects human 
rights, that promotes non-racialism and non-sexism and 
respect for humanity.  

There is also a need to point out that, the past two years, 
the museum has faced some challenges, we are however 
pleased that the Nelson Mandela Museum Council, the 
Department of Arts and Culture and the Arts and Culture 
Portfolio Committee in our National Parliament in Cape 
Town have taken a keen interests in the museum. This 
interest is motivating the museum staff and management 
to work together to resolve the museums weaknesses. 

The staff of the museum has taken this interest with 
positive attitude because it has noted that the Department 
of Arts and Culture and the Portfolio Committee of Arts 
and Culture wants the same thing that the museum staff 
and Council desires, the success of the Nelson Mandela 
Museum. In addition to this, all of us want the Nelson 
Mandela Museum to shine as an institution and to 
represent his legacy exemplary.

We all know that, not a single institution can sufficiently 
represent the legacy of Nelson Mandela alone, it requires 
the collective efforts of all South Africans, for Nelson 
Mandela was not only a national hero, he had become a 
global symbol for justice. We hope that the new strategic 
plan reflects this global symbolism and it will facilitate the 
forging of partnerships with different institutions. It is for 
these reasons that the museum is excited about the next 5 
years and beyond.

Noel Solani
Acting CEO
Date:	29	July	2015	

Acting CEO Overview
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Performance Information
2.1 INTRODUCTION
   In the year under review and in terms of its programmes and activities, the museum has done relatively well. The 

Audit of its performance against targets shows that the museum implemented the projects it planned, however, 
regrettably, in some areas it has under achieved because of lack of human resource to perform those tasks. In the 
past few years, the museum received unqualified audits, however, last year and this year and because of GRAP 103 
this year, which requires that heritage institutions valuate and disclose in the financial statements heritage assets, 
the museum received a qualified audit opinion from the Auditor-General.

   The Minister of Arts and Culture appoints a Council to oversee the strategic and policy direction of the museum, 
the council exercises oversight over a management team in its execution of the strategy, performance plan and 
budget. The present performance report against the predetermined objectives is presented to the Executive 
Authority, National Assembly and stakeholders in general to demonstrate progress against predetermined 
objectives and to indicate areas where there has been deviation from predetermined targets with reasons. 

   During this financial year, the museum was busy with the visioning of the institution. It also strove to develop 
a new strategic plan that will take the legacy of Nelson Mandela to higher heights. It has however also faced 
some challenges in the finalization of the disciplinary processes regarding the CEO. These processes are nearing 
completion and once completed, we will enter in a stage of consolidating the institution. With the assistance of 
the Department of Arts and Culture, the museum has started a process of restructuring. The restructuring process 
is aimed at creating a vehicle that is fit for purpose. This is also our acknowledgment that the institution is growing 
and with growth, changes are inevitable. 

   The Museum’s performance goals in the period under review were the following:

   1. To promote public knowledge, learning appreciation and the enjoyment of the life of Nelson Mandela.

   2. To develop, implement and maintain governance and management policies and procedures. To also improve 
infrastructure, facilities management and security of museum’s buildings, Equipment and Artefacts in all the 
museum sites. 

   3. To develop and grow diverse audiences, communicate and position the Nelson Mandela Museum favourably. 
To also leverage the Nelson Mandela Museum value proposition for economic opportunities for the museum 
and communities.  

   The tables that follow highlight progress in performance against the predetermined targets.

   The Museum thanks the Minister of Arts and Culture, the National Assembly, the Portfolio Committee for Arts and 
Culture, the communities, the donors, its various supporters and various stakeholders that have been part of the 
museum’s success to date. 

N. Solani                 N. Yokwana
Acting Chief Executive Officer           Chairperson of Council
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Performance Matrix

Strategic 
Objective

Performance Indicators 
(s)  

2014-2015 

Annual Target(s)  
2014-2015

Actual 
Annual Target 

Achieved 
2014-2015

Status 
Achieved  /  

Not Achieved

Reasons for not 
achieved/Reasons for 

over achieving
Verification sources

Sound and 
Effective 
Governance

Four appropriately 
constituted Council 
meetings

Hold 4 appropriately 
constituted council 
meetings during the 
Financial year

7 Achieved This is due to special 
Council meetings 
conducted through 
teleconferences to take 
urgent decisions during 
the CEO’s disciplinary 
processes

Council Meeting 
Minutes

Audit and Risk 
Committee Meetings 
operating in accordance 
to Audit Committee 
Charter

Hold 4 Audit Committee 
Meetings operating in 
accordance with Audit 
Committee Charter 
during the Financial 
year. 

4 Achieved N/A Audi and Risk 
Committee Meeting 
Minutes

Approved Strategic Plan 
and APP

Have an approved 
strategic plan and APP 
in place 

1 Achieved N/A Copy of the 
strategic plan and 
APP

Approved and 
submitted Performance 
agreements linked to 
divisions Performance 
Plans

Have Twenty Five 
(25) completed and 
approved performance 
agreements linked to 
division Performance 
Plans in place 

0 Not Achieved Were in the process 
of reviewing job 
specification in line with 
the museum strategic 
direction

N/A

Fundraising 
Strategy

Fundraising Strategy 
developed and adopted 
by Council

Fundraising Strategy 
developed and adopted 
by Council 

0 Not Achieved Planned Council Policy 
workshops did not 
materialise which was 
suppose to workshop 
the policies and approve

Draft Fund Raising 
Strategy

Number of Policies 
developed and 
approved

One (1) policy be 
developed and 
approved during the 
current financial year

0 Not Achieved Planned Council Policy 
workshops did not 
materialise which was 
suppose to workshop 
the policies and approve

Draft Fraud 
Prevention Strategy 
and Plan

Corporate 
Services

Developed workplace 
skills plan

One (1) Work Place Skills 
Plan developed during 
the financial year

1 Achieved N/A Document

Number of quarterly 
performance review 
sessions for managers 
and staff

Four (4) review sessions 
to be held by CEO 
with Senior Managers 
and 4 review sessions 
with staff members by 
managers during the 
financial year

0 Not Achieved Performance contracts 
with managers were 
signed in the last 
quarter

N/A

UAMPs developed and 
submitted to DAC

Develop and submit to 
DAC a UA MP during the 
Financial year 

1 Achieved N/A Emails and 
UAMP document 
submitted

Security breaches 
reported

Reduce security 
breaches to zero during 
the current financial 
year

1 Not Achieved Security in some of the 
offices was breached

Incidents and 
occurrence Book

Number of Contracts 
vetted and managed

Have eight (8) contracts 
vetted and managed 
during the current 
Financial year

1 Not Achieved There were no new 
contracts that needed to 
be vetted

Security Occurrence 
Book

IT governance manual 
developed

Develop and have in 
place an IT Manual in 
place by the 1st quarter 
of the current financial 
year 

0 Not Achieved Planned Council Policy 
workshops did not 
materialise which was 
suppose to workshop 
the policies and approve

Draft ICT Procedure 
Manual
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Strategic 
Objective

Performance Indicators 
(s)  

2014-2015 

Annual Target(s)  
2014-2015

Actual 
Annual Target 

Achieved 
2014-2015

Status 
Achieved  /  

Not Achieved

Reasons for not 
achieved/Reasons for 

over achieving
Verification sources

Financial 
Management 
and 
Administration

Unqualified audit 
opinion/report received 
in 2014/15

Receive unqualified 
Audit opinion for the 
Financial year 2014/15

N/A N/A Can only determine this 
after the audit process is 
complete

N/A

Number of monthly 
budgets versus 
expenditure reports 
submitted

A comparative analysis 
of actual expenditure 
against budget 
produced monthly

12 Achieved N/A Monthly reports

Financial 
Accountability 
Management 
and Reporting

Quarterly financial 
reports and 
performance 
information reports 
to Council and DAC 
submitted and 
approved

Quarterly Financial 
Reports and 
Performance 
Information reports 
submitted to council 
and DAC by the end of 
the month following the 
last month of quarter 
reported on.

4 Achieved N/A Emails, committee 
minutes and council 
minutes

Timely compiled 
quarterly projections 
and reports submitted 
to management and 
Council

Quarterly projections 
and reports produced 
and submitted to 
management and 
council during the year

0 Not Achieved They were submitted 
but not on time. Council 
meetings did not sit 
before the submission 
dates due to Council not 
quorating

N/A

Supply Chain 
Management

Developed and 
submitted Procurement 
Plan to DAC

Develop and submit 
one Procurement Plan 
during the Financial year

1 Achieved N/A Submission emails 
and the report itself

Annually updated and 
reviewed the supplier 
database

Update and review 
museum supplier 
database once during 
the financial year

1 Achieved N/A New application 
forms

Number of Updated 
asset registers

Produce four (4) 
updated Asset Registers 
during the Financial year

4 Achieved N/A Asset register

Internal Audit Submitted Audit and 
Risk Plan to Audit and 
Risk Committee

Submit an Audit and 
Risk Plan to the Audit 
and Risk Committee 
during the 1st Quarter 
of the financial year.

1 Achieved NA Minutes of the 
committee

Submitted and 
approved quarterly 
reports to Audit and Risk 
Committee

Submit four (4) quarterly 
reports to the Audit and 
Risk Committee during 
the financial year.

4 Achieved N/A Internal Audit 
Review reports

Reviewed Risk Register. 
Developed of Fraud 
Prevention plan

Review Risk Register 
once during the 
Financial Year.            
Develop Fraud 
Prevention plan to be 
approved by Council 

0 Not Achieved Risk register was 
developed. Draft fraud 
prevention strategy in 
place and waiting for 
Council policy workshop 
and approval

N/A

Documenting 
of all museum 
artefacts 
for proper 
accountability, 
conservation 
and sustainable 
use

Collected pieces on 
or related to Nelson 
Mandela 

No planned collected 
pieces on/or related to 
Nelson Mandela

0 No planned N/A N/A

Documented pieces 
on or related to Nelson 
Mandela

No planned 
documented pieces on/
or related to Nelson 
Mandela

0 Not planned N/A N/A

Percentage of collection 
systems aligned to 
Programme for Museum 
Development in Africa 
(PMDA) and South 
African Museums 
Association (SAMA) 
guidelines

Achieve 100% of 
collection systems 
alignment to 
programme for 
Museum Development 
in Africa (PMDA) and 
South African Museum 
Association (SAMA) 
Guidelines by the end of 
the current financial year

100% Achieved N/A Collections Policy
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Strategic 
Objective

Performance Indicators 
(s)  

2014-2015 

Annual Target(s)  
2014-2015

Actual 
Annual Target 

Achieved 
2014-2015

Status 
Achieved  /  

Not Achieved

Reasons for not 
achieved/Reasons for 

over achieving
Verification sources

Documenting 
of all museum 
artefacts 
for proper 
accountability, 
conservation 
and sustainable 
use

Conservation measures 
in place in accordance 
with NMM Policy 
Provisions

Have 100% 
Conservation measures 
in place in accordance 
with NMM Policy 
Provisions by the end 
of the current financial 
year.

0% Not Achieved This was to be 
applicable when we had 
moved to Bhunga as per 
the timelines of going 
back

N/A

To increase 
knowledge and 
understanding 
of museum 
collections

Number of catalogues 
artefacts provenance 
and historical analysis 
researched

100 catalogued 
artefacts provenance 
and historical analysis 
researched

50 Not Achieved Lack of fulltime 
researchers

N/A

To interpret 
the legacy of 
Nelson Mandela

Number of exhibition 
fabricated and installed

Fabricate and install one 
(1) exhibition during 
the 3rd quarter of the 
financial year

1 Achieved N/A Exhibition hall 1 and 
exhibition room at 
Qunu, an exhibition 
on the early life of 
Nelson Mandela

Promote good 
citizenship and 
leadership

Number of camps held Hold one (1) 
International Youth 
Camp during the 1st 
quarter of the current 
Financial year

2 Achieved the international youth 
camp and the winter 
school camps were 
held in the same year. 
The international youth 
camp in Germany and 
initially funds were not 
available, but through 
funding from the 
German partners, funds 
were made available. The 
winter school camp is 
South African based and 
caters for South Africans.

Camp Report/
Programme

Colloquium on Archives 
deepening Democracy

Colloquium on Archives 
deepening Democracy 
zero planned for the 
financial year

0 Not planned N/A N/A

Number of Conferences 
held on archives in 
partnership with 
UWC, UFH, Archival 
Platform, NHC, NM 
Foundation and relevant 
organisations

Zero Conferences 
held on archives in 
partnership with 
UWC, UFH, Archival 
Platform, NHC, NM 
Foundation and relevant 
organisations

0 Not planned N/A N/A

Number of seminars 
related to Nelson 
Mandela, his 
contemporaries and the 
Liberation struggle and 
Heritage held

Zero seminars related 
to Nelson Mandela, his 
contemporaries and the 
Liberation struggle and 
Heritage held

4 Achieved This was because of 
opportunities that 
availed themselves 
because of exhibition 
launches and 
extraordinary visits that 
requested seminars and 
these seminars were self 
sponsored

Report/programme/ 
Attendance Register

To increase 
Nelson Mandela 
Museum 
footprint

Number of travel 
exhibitions taken to 
various provinces

Take and install four (4) 
Travel exhibitions to 
various provinces during 
the current financial 
year

4 Achieved N/A Reports or 
programmes or 
agreements

Number of education 
material distributed to 
schools

Distribute twenty (20) 
books to various schools 
during the current 
Financial year

53 Achieved In all the launches 
that the museum had, 
there were schools and 
educators present, and 
we were able to use 
those opportunities to 
also add other museum 
work because of staff 
presents in those events

Register signed by 
the recipients
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Strategic 
Objective

Performance Indicators 
(s)  

2014-2015 

Annual Target(s)  
2014-2015

Actual 
Annual Target 

Achieved 
2014-2015

Status 
Achieved  /  

Not Achieved

Reasons for not 
achieved/Reasons for 

over achieving
Verification sources

Brand 
Management

Number of events 
hosted that attracts 
diverse audiences

Two (2) events 
that attract diverse 
audiences to be hosted 
during the 2nd and 4th 
quarter of the current 
financial year

2 Achieved N/A Programmes and 
attendance registers

Number of National and 
International Tourism 
Expo’s participated in 
to retain clients and 
penetrate new markets

Three (3) National and 
International Expo’s 
to be attended and 
exhibited in during the 
1st quarter, 3rd quarter 
and 4th quarter of the 
financial year

3 Achieved N/A Report on the Expo

Media Publications, i.e. 
Folders and brochures 
produced and upgraded

Print brochures and 
folders once a quarter 
during the 2nd and 
the 4th quarter of the 
financial year

0 Not Achieved Budget constraints N/A

Maintained 
Public relations

Number of print, 
electronic and broadcast 
articles and features

Make hundred (100) 
Print, electronic, and 
broadcast articles and 
features during the 
current financial year

262 Achieved In this reporting year, 
the Eastern Cape 
Provincial Government 
had an unanticipated 
interest in the museum 
that resulted to an 
increase in the media 
visiting the museum 
and reporting on the 
events taking place in 
the museum.

Print and Electronic 
Articles

Number of print, 
electronic and broadcast 
adverts

Make ten (10) adverts 
on print, electronic and 
broadcast media during 
the current financial 
year.

0 Not Achieved Budget constraints Orders for 
the electronic 
advertising and 
council approved 
seminar budget

Percentage increase in 
social media fans and 
followers increase 

Achieve five 5% increase 
in Social media fans and 
followers during the 
current financial year.

8.3% Achieved The presence of the 
SABC Foundation and 
its handover of the 
computer centre to 
the museum resulted 
to a YouTube video 
broadcast that attracted 
a number of people to 
the museum website

Printouts reflecting 
fans and followers

Number of Customer 
satisfaction Surveys 
for visitor retention 
conducted

Conduct four (4) 
quarterly customer 
satisfaction surveys for 
visitor retention during 
the current financial 
year.

4 Achieved N/A Questionnaires 
filled in by visitors 
available

Enhanced Tour 
experience

Visitor numbers 
increased

Increase visitor numbers 
to       35 000 visitors 
during the current 
financial year.

29 769 Not Achieved This could do with 
visitor trends to the 
Eastern Cape

Register of Visitors

Group School tours 
increased

Increase group school 
tours to 50 tours during 
the current financial 
year.

124 Achieved Due to the extra 
ordinary publicity the 
museum received, there 
has been an increased 
interest by schools to 
the museum. However, 
the number of learners 
visiting in the school 
tours has decreased.

Bookings and Visitor 
Registers
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Strategic 
Objective

Performance Indicators 
(s)  

2014-2015 

Annual Target(s)  
2014-2015

Actual 
Annual Target 

Achieved 
2014-2015

Status 
Achieved  /  

Not Achieved

Reasons for not 
achieved/Reasons for 

over achieving
Verification sources

Enhanced Tour 
experience

Tour operators visiting 
increased

Increase tour operator 
visits to 20 tour 
operators during the 
current financial year.

44 Achieved The numbers of tour 
companies have 
increase, through the 
Indaba and gateway 
shows attendance 
we have been able to 
convince those tour 
companies to visit the 
museum. Most of the 
companies are still small 
and are using 10 seaters 
or less compared to the 
old companies that uses 
busses. This resulted 
to an increased in 
companies visiting but 
less numbers of people 
because of the size of 
vehicles used.

Register of Visitors

Community 
Support 
services

Approved and 
Implemented annual 
corporate social 
responsibility project

Implement 1 corporate 
social responsibility 
project during the 2nd 
quarter of the Financial 
year.

4 Achieved The budgeted amount 
was split to benefit 
more groups within 
the community. What 
was also done was to 
purchase the material 
directly from suppliers 
and therefore cutting 
costs.

Official opening of 
the Media Centre 
in partnership with 
SABC

Number of visitors, 
youth and learners 
using NMM internet

Increase number 
of visitors, youth 
and learners using 
NMM Internet to 30 
individuals during the 
financial year. 

112 Achieved Through SABC 
Foundation launch, 
the museum received 
a lot of publicity that 
attracted Mthatha Adult 
Basic Education Cluster 
to the museum and a 
request by the cluster to 
also use the computers.

Register

Number of partnerships 
formed to assist 
development of local 
communities

Form two (2) 
partnerships to assist 
development of local 
communities

18 Achieved The increase in museum 
programming resulted 
to many partners 
wanting to partner with 
the museum in our own 
strategic programmes. 
These partnerships 
could not be refused 
because they had a 
long-term impact for the 
museum.

SABC and ABET

             

       

Noel Solani                Ms Nozuko Yokwana   
Acting CEO                Chairperson of Council 

Date:	29	July	2015	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Date:	29	July	2015	
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PROGRAMME 1: Heritage And  
               Conservation  
               Department
3.1 Background Information
   The Nelson Mandela Museum Heritage and Conservation department/ Programmes Department is regarded as 

the main or core department of the museum. This is because it is mandated to engage in various programmes that 
are educational and cultural which are aimed at sharing the resources that are linked to President Nelson Mandela. 
It also focuses on the collection and conservation of the museum artefacts. The above activities are executed on 
the following key areas of delivery:

	 	 	 •	 Product	Development:	development	of	education	support	material	such	as	learning	guides,	catalogues	based	
on our exhibitions and work in general.

	 	 	 •	 Production	of	worksheets	for	learners.

	 	 	 •	 Leadership	Institute:	Under	the	leadership	institute	there	are	2	camps	that	are	alternate	camps	held	each	year	
that focus on young people at school.

	 	 	 •	 Outreach	programmes:	Travelling	exhibitions	and	school	visits.

	 	 	 •	 Intellectual	agenda:	the	focus	of	this	is	to	stimulate	debate	on	heritage	and	the	legacy	of	Nelson	Mandela	and	
his contemporaries through seminars, conferences, symposiums and continuous research.

	 	 	 •	 Heritage	 resources:	This	 focuses	on	 the	collection,	protection	and	preservation	of	material	 that	 reflects	 the	
legacy of Nelson Mandela.

3.2 Leadership Institute
   Under the Leadership Institute the Heritage and Conservation Department has two broad focus areas. They are 

the International Youth Camp, which focuses on building understanding between young people from various 
countries. It attracts countries where its people experienced various forms of conflict and discrimination based on 
race, religion, and gender. The second activity is Winter School Camp, which attracts young people from all over 
South Africa. The winter school camp focuses on building understanding between South Africans using the arts 
and impacting certain skills. It uses these to also build future leaders of our society that will understand and be 
exposed to various forms of beliefs either than those practised in their regions or provinces

3.3 International Youth Camp
   The department has built on this and developed strong partnerships with Anne Frank House in Lower Saxony, 

Germany.  In the reporting year, on the 22 March 2014 to 04 April 2015, the Museum sent 4 learners from 5 provinces 
to participate in the camp as well as one educator to accompany the learners. The camp attracts participants from 
9 European countries and South Africa is the 10th country.

   The following were South African participants in the reporting year:

Name School Place Province

Zanele Dimaza Zimankulu Senior Secondary Queenstown Eastern Cape

Layla Khalid Taxila Senior secondary School Nirvana, Polokwane Limpopo

Shahieda Rosenberg St Cyprians Grammar School Kimberly Northern Cape

Tuelo Romeo 
Mongale

He could not attend due to VISA challenges. His 
mother passed on shortly before the trip and a letter 
from social workers that could prove his present 
legal guidance was delayed and therefore could not 
meet the deadline for travelling to Europe.

Bloemfontein Free State
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3.4 Winter School Camp
   On the 5th to 10 October 2014, the museum hosted a Winter School Camp at the Nelson Mandela Youth and 

Heritage Centre, Qunu. This year the camp attracted 70 learners from all over South Africa between the ages of 14 
to 18 years to be inspired by the values that Nelson Mandela stood for.

3.5 Product Development
   Nelson Mandela’s life story is an important story in the history of South Africa and the world, particularly as it 

pertains to specific values such as those of freedom, humanity, resilience, peace and reconciliation.  During this 
period the department has produced the following

	 	 	 •	 My	Zone	Magazine	that	is	based	on	the	activities	that	happened	during	the	Winter	School	Camps.

	 	 	 •	 Worksheets	for	Grade	3	were	also	produced	in	order	to	interact	with	the	museum	exhibitions

	 	 	 •	 A	DVD	was	produced	on	the	colloquium	proceedings

3.6 Outreach Programme
   The museum outreach programme is aimed at taking the museum to the people regardless of their location.  This 

has been done through the following activities:

   Outreach Programme and School Visits
   The museum distributed learning and education material to several schools and institutions as part of its outreach 

programme. The learning and education material is generated by the museum and most of the publications are 
internally published. 

Place Name of Institution/s

Barkly East •	Ebenezer	Nyathi	Senior	Secondary	School
•	Mpumelelo	Secondary
•	Department	of	Education

Sterksrpuit •	Sterkspruit	Senior	Secondary	School

Mthatha •	Ngangelizwe	Senior	Secondary	School
•	Mbuqe	Junior	Secondary	School

Mthatha •	Walter	Sisulu	University
•	KSD	Community	Service

King Williamstown •	Gardens	Commercial	High
•	Breibach	Senior	Secondary	School

King Williamstown •	Steve	Biko	Centre

Fort Beaufort •	Healdtown	High	School

Butterworth •	Bethel	College
•	St	Matthews	High	School

Engcobo •	Zibute	Senior	Primary	School
•	Gulandoda	Junior	Secondary	School
•	Ngcobo	Senior	Primary	School
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Place Name of Institution/s

Durban •	Siphakamile	Primary	School
•	Mcushwa	Primary	School
•	R	A	Engar	Primary	School
•	Inkulu	Primary	School
•	Mavunola	Primary	School
•	Buhlezwe	Primary	School
•	Sidumile	Primary	School

Durban •	Mthusi	H.S
•	St	Martins	school
•	Inyandezulu	Primary	School
•	Mgawulane	Primary	School
•	Nobamba	Senior	Secondary	school

Libode •	St	Patricks	Junior	Secondary	School

Tsolo •	Wabani	Secondary	school
•	D	Thembeka	Senior	Primary	School
•	Daluhlanga	Senior	Secondary	school
•	Malepelepe	Junior	Secondary	School
•	Zanebandla	Junior	secondary	school
•	Lower	Goqwana	Junior	Secondary	school

Durban •	University	of	KwaZulu-Natal
•	Esayidi	FET	College•

Johannesburg •	Legacy	Arts	Project

Pretoria •	Tshwane	University	of	Technology

Port Elizabeth •	Nelson	Mandela	Metropolitan	University

3.7 Travelling Exhibition
   In the reporting year, the department exhibited in the following museums:

   Stellenbosch University Museum:  Dear Mr Mandela, Dear Mrs Parks Children’s Letters,  
             Global lessons Exhibition: Western Cape
   Queenstown Museum:     Parenting a Nation Exhibition: Eastern Cape
   Barkly East Museum:     Mandela and Luthuli Exhibition: Eastern Cape
   Pilgrims Rest Museum:      Mandela and Luthuli Exhibition:  Mpumalanga

3.8 Intellectual Agenda
   The Nelson Mandela Museum subscribes to the concept of lifelong learning. In the reporting year, the following 

activities took place:

   3.8.1 Curatorial Fellowship Programme
      During this period, the department hosted Mr Michael Wilson, a doctoral student from Michigan State 

University,	Unites	States	America	between	the	month	of	June	and	July	2014	through	our	partnership	
with Michigan State University Museum. The exchange programme is on annual basis.  Mr Michael 
assisted in the historical analysis of the museum collections.
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   3.8.2 Seminars
      During this period, we hosted four seminars on Post Mandela Narratives. Three of the seminars were 

held at the Nelson Mandela Youth and Heritage Centre and one was held in Kimberly as part of our 
collaboration with other institutions, which was attended by close to hundred and fifty participants and 
received a wide coverage.

   3.8.3 Exhibitions
      Exhibitions are the dominant interpretation tool of the Nelson Mandela Museum. During this period the 

museum housed only one exhibition at the Nelson Mandela Youth and Heritage Centre in Qunu, which 
focuses on the autobiography of Nelson Mandela.

   3.8.4 Collections
      During this period, Beveridge Magnet High School in Omaha collected messages of condolences and 

donated them to the museum:

      Riverside Church in New York donated two magazines that were developed on the Nelson Mandela’s 
memorial service proceedings in New York.

      Nelson Mandela Replica Cell was also donated to the museum by South African Defence Force and was 
handed over to the museum by honourable Minister Nosiviwe Nqakula.

   3.8.5 Research
      During this period, the department was busy with continuous investigation and analysis of museum 

collections. Some of the artifacts were donated anonymously. In order to fully understand its collection, 
the museum is busy researching the provenance of the collection. This research is the starting point of 
deeper understanding and uses of our collection. Since we all know that, museum collection forms the 
cornerstone of any museum worth its salt and needs to be properly preserved, and fully understood. 

Minister of Defence Nosiviwe Nqakula handing over keys of Nelson Mandela’s replica cell designed and donated by the South African 
National Defence members to Nelson Mandela museum. From Left:  Acting CEO Dr Noel Solani,  

Council member Andiswa Vikilahle, Minister of Defence Nosiviwe Nqakula and council member Vuyani Booi.
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PROGRAMME 2: Marketing and  
         Communication

The Marketing and Communication Department of the Nelson Mandela Museum is responsible for profiling the Nelson 
Mandela Museum to the different publics both nationally and internationally. It could be described as the public voice of the 
institution that aims to promote and retain clients of the museum using various platforms that communicate the story of 
Nelson Mandela to various audiences.

It aims to develop satisfying relationships with tour operators, tourists and other customers that are mutually beneficial. 
The museum’s marketing department strives to promote the legacy of Nelson Mandela and fulfil the museum’s mission by 
interacting with the various publics. The museum is fully aware that the marketing department is the face of the museum. 
The public experience the museum by interacting with its front staff. Among the front staff, tour guides are the ones that 
are the first contact with the public. In addition to this, the museum interacts with the public through social media. It also 
understands that there are also some people who still believe in well and tested methodologies of communication, hence 
brochures continue to be used as one form of communication.

The Marketing Department activities for the year under review are summarised in the following four overarching areas: 
brand management, management and development, communication and publicity, public relations and tours.

3.9 Brand Management
   As part of the continuous promotion of the Nelson Mandela Museum brand: in the year 2014/15, the museum 

had a stall at the Durban Tourism Indaba, which is attended by many tour operators both from South Africa and 
internationally. Our participation in the Durban Indaba gave us the opportunity to explain the reasons for the 
delays in the opening of the Nelson Mandela Museum in Bhunga. It was also a great opportunity to assure the 
tour operators and the world that the Nelson Mandela Museum is still open and aims to be part of the planned 
“national heritage liberation route” spearheaded by the National Heritage Council in South Africa.

   In the reporting year, the museum also participated in the National Tourism Careers Expo that is annually held in 
East London. The Expo is an opportunity for the museum to give guidance to learners on the careers that are found 
in museums. It is also an opportunity to educate learners about the importance of heritage institutions and attract 
new audiences to the museum.

3.10 Communication,  
Publicity And Public Relations

   Our Annual Performance Report will show that the museum has featured quite a number of times in both electronic 
media and print media. The South African Broadcasting Corporation featured the museum quite a number of 
times. Most of the media publicity was positive since it profiled museum programming and the activities that 
were taking place in the museum. The museum is in the process of developing its marketing and communication 
strategy so that we can convert this positiveness about the museum into feet that come and visit the museum and 
that will participate in museum programmes.

   To position the museum globally, we have taken advantage of the digital media space that has been made possible 
by face book, twitter and other social media platforms. 

3.11 Tours
   As we already indicated, tours is one of the areas that interact with the public, may it be school groups, local tourists 

or international tourists. It is also one of the ways in which we measure our marketing success when tour numbers 
increase since the key interest of any museum is to see the visitor numbers growing. This is because we also measure 
our message to establish if it reaches the multitudes that we wish it should reach through visits to our exhibitions. 
This year, we had a slight drop in the visitor numbers. This may be attributed to the fact that, globally, tourist numbers 
have decreased. It might also be caused by the delays in the opening of the Bhunga building where our main 
exhibitions and the gifts that were donated to the late President Nelson Mandela are displayed.
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PROGRAMME 3: Corporate Governance
3.12 Governance and Administration
   Corporate Governance embodies processes and Systems by which Public entities are directed, controlled and 

held to account. In addition to legislative requirements based on the Public entity’s enabling legislation and the 
Companies Act, Corporate Governance with regard to public entities is applied through the prescripts of the Public 
Finance Management Act no. 1 of 1999(PFMA) and run in tandem with the protocol on corporate Governance, 
which encapsulates the principles contained in the King III Report on Corporate Governance. The Nelson Mandela 
Museum commits itself to the Principles of accountability, transparency and integrity as prescribed by the King III 
code of Corporate Governance.

   This programme, therefore, is responsible for overall institutional co-ordination, accountability, planning, policy 
development, monitoring and risk management. The main entities involved in this programme are Museum 
Council, Office of the CEO, and the Corporate Services Function. 

   The broad Objectives of this programme include:
	 	 	 •	 Ensuring	strategy,	policy,	oversight	and	accountability;	
	 	 	 •	 Ensuring	organisational	sustainability	and	accountability;	
	 	 	 •	 Co-ordinating	the	institutional	functioning;	
	 	 	 •	 Providing	adequate	support	to	council	and	ensuring	implementation	of	council	strategic	and	policy	directions;	

and
	 	 	 •	 Rendering	a	corporate	services	function	in	all	respects.	

   In the period under review, the following were the major focus points of the programme:
	 	 	 •	 Strengthening	governance	and	aiming	to	achieve	an	unqualified	audit	opinion;	
	 	 	 •	 Addressing	issues	raised	by	the	Auditor	General	with	the	aim	of	achieving	an	unqualified	audit	opinion	for	the	

financial years 2015/16;
	 	 	 •	 Strengthening	organisational	capacity	and	restructuring	the	museum	to	be	fit	for	the	new	purpose;
	 	 	 •	 Strengthening	the	policy	environment	and	compliance	aspects;	and

   In line with these priorities the following progress was achieved:
	 	 	 •	 Stagnation	was	experienced	in	that	for	two	consecutive	years,	the	institution	has	received	a	qualified	audit	opinion;	
	 	 	 •	 The	 current	 Internal	 Audit	 Service	 Provider	 term	 has	 expired,	 the	 services	 for	 a	 new	 service	 provider	was	

advertised, evaluated and awaiting adjudication;

   In the discharge of their mandate the respective Museum Councils held four (4) of their overall four (4) statutory 
required meetings. 

3.13 Council and Council Committees
   The Nelson Mandela Museum is a Cultural Institution established by the Minister of Arts and Culture in terms of 

the Cultural Institutions Act  no. 119 of 1998 as ammended.

   The Minister of Arts and Culture appoints members of the Public to form Council as the Accounting Authority to 
manage and control the affairs of the Nelson Mandela Museum in terms of the enabling Act and its Regulations in 
line with corporate governance principles. Currently the Museum Council/Accounting Authority consists of eleven 
(11) Members appointed from diverse disciplines within the Republic of South Africa. The Council and its Committees 
operate in terms of approved Charters/Terms of Reference that clearly spells out their roles and responsibilities.

   Below is the Nelson Mandela Museum organisational structure that outlines the position of Council, its committees, 
management and all staff of the museum. The organisational structure also indicates positions that are unfunded 
but required by the museum because of their critical importance.



29

PART C | Programme Overview and Activities
nelson mandela museum annual report 2015

3.14 Council Committees and their  
   Terms of Reference
   3.14.1 Executive Authority
      The Ministry of Arts and Culture has an overall oversight of the Nelson Mandela Museum. The Minister 

of Arts and Culture appoints the Council of the Nelson Mandela Museum. The Council reports to 
the Minister of Arts and Culture. The Minister and the chairperson of the Council, each year sign a 
shareholders compact.

   3.14.2 Council
      A Council composed by 11 members governs the Nelson Mandela Museum. The Council has 4 committees.

   3.14.3 Content Committee
	 	 	 	 	 	 •	 Give	advice	to	Council	on	strategic	heritage	policy	matters	and	Marketing.
	 	 	 	 	 	 •	 Ensures	alignment	of	heritage	policies	to	the	vision	and	mission	of	NMM
	 	 	 	 	 	 •	 Oversees	the	audit	and	collection	register	of	NMM
	 	 	 	 	 	 •	 Advises	Council	on	disposal	of	NMM	artefacts
	 	 	 	 	 	 •	 Makes	decisions	on	loan	requests.
	 	 	 	 	 	 •	 Oversees	the	development	of	marketing	strategies	and	policies.

   3.14.4 Audit Committee
	 	 	 	 	 	 •	 	Oversees	internal	&	external	audit	function
	 	 	 	 	 	 •	 	Examines	the	Annual	Financial	Statements	before	submission	to	Council
	 	 	 	 	 	 •	 	Reviews	the	annual	report	so	that	it	presents	a	balanced	record	of	NMM
	 	 	 	 	 	 •	 	Monitors	the	risk	appetite	of	NMM
	 	 	 	 	 	 •	 	Monitors	achievements	against	corporate	governance	standards	on	internal	controls	

   3.14.5 Finance Committee
	 	 	 	 	 	 •	 Oversees	financial	planning	and	management
	 	 	 	 	 	 •	 Monitors		financial	performance	of	NMM
	 	 	 	 	 	 •	 Monitors	compliance	to	financial	objectives	as	set	out	by	Council	in	line	with	the	PFMA	and	Treasury	

Regulations
	 	 	 	 	 	 •	 Reviews	quarterly	financial	focasts	
	 	 	 	 	 	 •	 Approves	the	virement	of	funds	

Nelson Mandela Museum Council

Nozuko Yokwana
Chairperson of Council

Similo Grootboom
Content Committee

Khulekani Buthelezi
Audit and Risk Committee

Vuyani Jarana
Institutional Development 

Committee

Andiswa Vikilahle
Finance Committee



30

PART C | Programme Overview and Activities
nelson mandela museum annual report 2015

   3.14.6 Institutional Development Committee
	 	 	 	 	 	 •	 Oversees	human	resources	policy	development
	 	 	 	 	 	 •	 Ensures	manpower	needs	and	plans	support	the	organisations	vision	
	 	 	 	 	 	 •	 Ensures	that	institutional	development	imperatives	are	accomplished
	 	 	 	 	 	 •	 Ensures	that	an	organisational	structure	supportive	of	the	vision	of	NMM	is	in	place
	 	 	 	 	 	 •	 Ensures	the	upkeep	of	security,	facilities	and	logistics
	 	 	 	 	 	 •	 Ensures	that	the	ICT	architecture	is	deployed
	 	 	 	 	 	 •	 Ensures	that	registry	services	to	support	NMM	as	a	knowledge	institution	are	in	place

   3.14.7 Composition of Council

Name Designation Date of 
Appointment

Date of 
Resignation Qualifications Area of 

Expertise

Other 
Committees 

and Task 
Teams

Number of 
Meetings 
Attended

Mrs N yokwana Chairperson 2013 - Diploma in Nursing, 
Bachelor of Social Work, 
Masters In Development 
Studies

Community 
Development

0 7

Mr	V.	Jarana Deputy chairperson 2013 - Diploma in Telecoms, 
Bachelor Commerce, 
Masters in Business 
Administration

Business, 
Finance, 
Organisational 
development, 

0 7

Ms A Vikilahle Chairperson of Finance 
Commitee

2013 - Bachelor of Commerce 
(Honours)

Finance 0 7

Similo Grootboom Chaiperson of Content 
Committee

2013 - Senior Secondary Teachers 
Diploma, Bachelor of Arts, 
Master of Arts

Heritage and 
Conservation

7 7

Khulekani Buthelezi Chairperson of Audit 
Committee

2013 - ACCA, B. Commerce Audit 0 7

Mr V Booi Member of Content 
Committee

2013 - Bachelor of Social Sciences, 
PG/diploma in heritage 
Studies, Master Arts 
(history)

Heritage and 
Conservation

0 7

Ms S VanZyl Member of Content 
Committe

2013 - Bachelor of Arts (honours) 
in Anthropology

Museum 
Management

0 7

Mr Ndaba Mandela Member of the Content 
Committee

2013 - Bachelor of Arts (honours) Business, 
Fundraising, 
heritage

0 7

Mr M Dithlake Member of finance 
committee, Member 
of Institutional 
Development 
Committee

2013 - B. Commerce Accounting,
Certificate of  
Theory in Accounting,
Executive  
Management Programme

Business, 
Organisational 
Development

0 7

Professor Sirhayi Member 2013 2013 Doctor of Philosophy 0 7

Adv.	JN	Kooverjee Member 2013 12/05/2013 LLB 0 7

Mr K Buthelezi receiving a candle donation from Mrs L Mphahlwa  
during on the 18 July 2014 Mandela Colloquiuim

Ms Nosiviwe Mapisa-Nqakula addressing journalist when she handed over  
the Robben Island Prison Cell replica at Qunu
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   3.14.8 Committees of Council

Name of Committee Number  
of Meetings Held

Number  
of Members Names of the Members

Institutional Development Committee 4 4 Mr	V	Jarana
Mr M Dithlake
Ms A Vikilahle
Mr S Grootboom

Finance Committee 4 4 Mr	V	Jarana
Mr M Dithlake
Ms A Vikilahle
Mr N Mandela

Content Committee 5 4 Mr S Grootboom
Ms S Van Zyl
Mr V Booi
Mr N Mandela

Nelson Mandela Museum Council Members

Vuyani Booi Khulekani Buthelezi Ndaba MandelaVuyani JaranaMatone Dithlake

Sylvia Van Zyl Andiswa Vikilahle Similo GrootboomNozuko Yokwana
Chairperson of Council
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   3.14.9 Remuneration of Council Members
      The Council of the Nelson Mandela is a part time body and they are paid per sitting as reflected in the 

table below.

Name Remuneration Other 
allowances

Other  
re-imbursement

Remuneration 
Amounts

Mrs N Yokwana R 82 500 - - -

Mr	V	Jarana R 29 000 - - -

Ms A Vikilahle R 51 750 - - -

Mr K Buthelezi R 22 500 - - -

Mr S Grootboom R 0 - - -

Ms S Van Zyl R 0 - - -

Mr M Dithlake R 36 000 - - -

Mr V Booi R 40 000 - - -

Mr N Mandela R 16 000 - - -

Professor Sirhayi R 0 - - -

Advocate	J	N	Kooverjee R 0 - - -

      Nelson Mandela Museum Management and Staff 
      The Nelson Mandela Museum Management is divided into two components, that is to say, senior 

management that directly reports to the Chief Executive Officer and middle management that report to 
various senior managers.

      The management of Nelson Mandela Museum is jointly and severally accountable to the Accounting 
Authority of the museum through the Office of the CEO. In the restructuring process that the museum 
is undertaking, there is an opportunity to develop a flat structure that will take into account the current 
financial realities that the museum is faced with in terms of filling of vacant critical posts.

Back Row from Left: Thembile Mkhohliwe, Unathi Songca, Zimisele Gamakhulu, Fumanekile Wisani and Mfuneko Mdludlu.
Middle Row from Left: Nyamelo Mandela, Ncediwe Ndima, Ncebakazi Ncapayi, Nolubalalo Ngxekana, Thembakazi Mvitshane,  

Zolisa Mqamelo and Mtshutshisi Tyalakhulu.
Front Row from Left: Nonceba Sifika, Siviwe Mazwana, Tutula Dumalisile, Sibulele Makhutha and Ongezwa Kula.
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Nelson Mandela Museum Staff

   3.14.10 Security Facilities and Logistics 
      The Security, Facilities and Logistics unit is responsible for a safe and clean environment of the Nelson 

Mandela Museum.

      One of the challenging projects in the past two years that the unit has been focusing on was the 
completion of the Bhunga Building of the Nelson Mandela Museum. The construction and completion 
of the Bhunga building has legged behind and the project seemed to be slowing down. This impacts 
on the tourist that wishes to visit the museum. This is because the Bhunga houses the main exhibitions 
of the museum, in other words, it is the contextual space of the museum, while the Nelson Mandela 
Museum in Qunu is meant for the activities of young people, like the hosting of camps.

      The delayed completion of the building resulted to unintended consequences, even though we 
have planned for some delay, we did not plan that it would be to this extent. The delay has therefore 
resulted to the museum incurring financial losses because of storage rental and the increase in costs of 
transportation. The money that was budgeted for relocation, in terms of value and as a result of price 
escalation is well below the amount required to perform this task.

      We must also state that, the Director-General of the Department of Public Works, and the museum Council 
played an important intervention role in making sure that the building is completed, bottlenecks are 
resolved and that by the end of 2015, the museum should be operating from its new revamped building.

      The museum is experiencing shortage of operating capital to finance the maintenance of infrastructure 
and maintenance of Grounds at the Qunu Youth and Heritage Centre which results from the absence of 
a maintenance plan which is the competence of the Department of Public Works. However, negotiations 
are in progress between the Museum and the Department of Public works to craft the maintenance 
plan and provision of budget to finance the exercise.

      We are also grateful to the Department of Public-Works for allocating R15 million for the upgrade of 
the Nelson Mandela Museum Youth and Heritage Centre, Qunu sewer system that has been giving 
problems to the museum for a number of years now. The sewer upgrade will be accompanied by the 
renovation of the buildings and some facelifts of certain buildings that will ensure that the material 
used can withstand the elements of nature and are durable. 

Bhunga Building 
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Nelson mandela youth and heritage centre 

Museum in Qunu

Colonel Mfeketho opening of the Roben Island Mandela cell replica at Qunu 
donated by Western Cape SANDF works unit

Benny Wember
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Report of the Audit and Risk Committee 
for the period 2014/15 
3.29 Introduction 
   The Committee is pleased to present its final annual report for the financial year ending 31 March 2015. This 

report is presented in accordance with the requirements of the Public Finance Management Act No. 1 of 1999, as 
amended and the recommendations contained in the third King Report on Governance for South Africa and the 
King Code of Governance Principles (King III). 

3.30 Audit Committee Responsibility 
   The Committee reports that it has complied with its responsibilities arising from sections 51 (1) (a) (ii) and 77 of 

the Public Finance Management Act read with Treasury Regulation 27.1. The Committee also reports that it has 
adopted appropriate formal terms of reference as its Audit and Risk Committee Charter, has regulated its affairs in 
compliance with this charter and has discharged all its responsibilities as contained therein. 

3.31 Committee Meetings 
   The Nelson Mandela Museum had four Audit and Risk Committee meetings during the period under review. 

The meetings consisted of the members of the committee whom were appointed by the Museum’s Accounting 
Authority. The attendance is summarised below: 

Name Qualifications Internal or External Date Appointed Number of 
Meetings Attended 

Mr K Buthelezi ACCA Chairperson (External) 01 November 2013 4

Ms. P Segoati Chartered Accountant Member (External) 24	June	2014 2

Mr. L Mangquku Chartered Accountant Member (External) 25	June	2014 2

3.32 Effectiveness of Internal controls 
   The system of internal controls is designed to provide cost-effective assurance that assets are safeguarded and 

that liabilities and working capital are efficiently managed. The system of internal control applied by the Museum 
over financial and risk management is ineffective, inefficient and not transparent. 

   In accordance with the PFMA and the King III Report on Corporate Governance requirements, internal audit is 
required to provide the Committee and Management with assurance that the internal controls, governance and 
risk management processes of the Museum are appropriate and effective. 

   This is achieved by means of the risk management, as well as the identification of corrective actions and suggested 
enhancements to the internal controls and processes. Internal audit performed periodic independent evaluations 
of the adequacy and effectiveness of internal controls, financial reporting, performance information and the 
integrity of information systems and records. 
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   The following is a summary of internal audit work which was completed during the year under review:

No Focus Area Type

1 Budgeting Compliance/Assurance

2 Stakeholder Management Compliance/Assurance

3 Human Resource Management Assurance

4 Organisational Design Assurance

5 Revenue and receipts follow up Assurance

6 Financial Controls follow-up Assurance

7 Follow-up Review Assurance

8 Annual Financial Statement review Compliance/Assurance

9 AG key controls/dashboard Assurance

10 Interim Financial Statements Compliance/Assurance

11 Performance Information Assurance

12 Information Technology Assurance

ADHOC Assignment

13 Supply Chain Management Oversight Compliance/Assurance

14 Governance Structure Compliance/Assurance

   From the various reports of the internal auditors, the audit report on the annual financial statements and the 
management letter of the Auditor General, it was noted that there has been an improvement since the previous 
year. The Committee remains committed to ensuring that the recommendations from Internal and External Audit 
are implemented by management. The Committee remains concerned about risk management, Performance 
Information and Information Technology environment.

   Internal Audit performed a follow-up on all the findings raised, Risk Register Action Plans (2014/15) and External 
Audit (2013/14) findings raised. The results are shown below:

External Audit
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   Significant matters which have not been adequately resolved include the following: 
	 	 	 •	 Integrity,	accuracy	and	reliability	of	financial	information	
	 	 	 •	 Revenue	management	and	debt	collection	
	 	 	 •	 Inadequate	procurement/supply	chain	management	environment	
	 	 	 •	 Inadequate	Performance	Management	
	 	 	 •	 Poor	document	management	
	 	 	 •	 Lack	of	accountability	and	discipline	

   Accordingly, we can report that the general system of internal control for the period under review were partly 
effective. Under the leadership and guidance of the Committee, management is expected to implement strategies, 
resolutions and action plans to address the qualified audit opinion. The Committee is also concerned with the 
number of unresolved findings as per the follow up review. The Committee undertakes to conduct closer monitoring 
of the implementation of plans going forward. 

3.33 In-Year Management and  
Monthly/Quarterly Report 

   The Committee is dissatisfied with the content and quality of monthly reports prepared and issued by the Museum 
during the year under review. 

   The Committee will monitor the process and procedures designed and implemented to ensure there is a 
consistency and improvement in the quality of performance information for the forthcoming financial year and 
achievement of planned targets. 

3.34 Evaluation of Financial Statements 
   The Committee has: 

	 	 	 •	 Reviewed	 and	 discussed	 the	 audited	 financial	 statements	 to	 be	 included	 in	 the	 Annual	 Report,	 with	 the	
Auditor-General and the Accounting Authority.

	 	 	 •	 Reviewed	the	Auditor-General	of	South	Africa’s	management	report	and	management’s	report	thereto.

   The opinion expressed by Auditor-General on the annual financial statement is a qualified opinion. The Committee 
has seen a drastic change on the items reported by Auditor-General. All the items which were raised in the previous 
year’s audit have been addressed by management. The qualification basis is the compliance with National Treasury’s 
circular which required all entities to value its Heritage Assets. 

   We concur with and accept the Auditor-General of South Africa’s report on the annual financial statements, and 
are of the opinion that the audited financial statements should be accepted together with the report of the 
Auditor-General of South Africa. 

3.35 Auditor-General of South Africa 
   We have met with the Auditor-General of South Africa to ensure that there are no unresolved issues. 

3.36 Conclusions 
   We would like to extend our appreciation to the Executive Authority, Accounting Authority, Management and 

Internal and External Auditors for their efforts being made to address concerns raised by the audit committee. We 
look forward to an improved audit outcome in the 2015/2016 financial year. 

Mr K Buthelezi 
Chairperson: Audit and Risk Committee 

Date: 13 August 2015
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Human Resource Management
The Human Resource Unit, which is under the museum Corporate Services Department, is responsible for recruitment 
and staff wellness of museum employees. The unit aims to retain staff that is in the museum, through continuous training, 
develop the skills capacity of all staff and ensure that such trained staff is retained by the museum. It also aims to harmonise 
relations between staff members and the management and ensures that a healthy working environment is created.

4.1 Nelson Mandela Staff Complement
   The museum has 25 fulltime staff members in its payroll and 3 temporal staff members. Of the 28 staff members, 

the 9 managers are all on fixed term contracts, both senior managers and middle management. We hope that 
this position will change and middle managers contracts will be converted into fulltime permanent employment 
contracts after the museum restructuring process that is taking place. The tables in this report will show the 
number of staff members that were sent for training by the museum.

   The museum also encourages its staff members to register for diplomas and degrees in fields of their choice that 
are related to museum work and in line with their responsibilities in the museum. We have a number of staff 
members that are registered with the University of South Africa for degrees and diplomas. Two of these staff 
members started in 2000 when the museum was established are nearing the completion of their studies. We are 
eagerly looking forward to their graduation ceremonies. When they finally receive their diplomas, it will indeed be 
a proud moment for the Nelson Mandela Museum family.

   The following table reflects the Skills Development progress:

4.2 STAFF SKILLS DEVELOPMENT IN 2014/2015
   4.2.1 Personnel Costs by Programme

Programme Total Expenditure for 
the Entity

Personnel 
Expenditure

Number of 
Employees

Average Personnel 
Costs per Employee

Business Development R 2 777 337.12 R 1 855 000.00 5 R 371 000.00

Public Engagement R 2 763 404.28 R 1 537 536.00 9 R 170 838.00

Corporate Services R 3 023 835.65 R 4 823 700.00 10 R 482 370.00

   4.2.2 Personnel Costs by Salary Band

Level Personnel 
Expenditure

% Personnel Exp. To 
Total Personnel Cost 

Number of 
Employees

Average Personnel 
Costs per Employee

Executive management R 2 777 337.12 36.52% 4 R 694 334.28

Middle Management R 2 763 404.28 36.39% 6 R 460 567.38

Staff R 3 023 835.65 27.09% 15 R 136 862.74

TOTAL R 8 564 577.00 100.00% 25 R 1 291 764.40

   4.2.3 Performance Rewards

Programme Performance 
Rewards

Personnel 
Expenditure 

Number of 
Employees

% of Performance 
Rewards to Total 

Personnel

Executive management 0 0 0 0

Middle Management 0 0 0 0

Staff 0 0 0 0

TOTAL 0 0 0 0
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   4.2.4 Training Costs

Business Unit Personnel 
Expenditure

Training 
Expenditure

Training 
Expenditure as 
% of Personnel 

Costs

Number  
of Employees 

Trained

Average 
Training Cost 
per Employee

Business Development R 1 855 000.00 0 0 0 0

Public Engagement R 1 537 536.00 R 19 501. 00 1.3% 02 R 9 750.50

Governance R 4 823 700.00 R 444 100.00 9.2% 07 R 63 443.00

   4.2.5 Employment and Vacancies

Programme
2013/14

Number of 
Employees

2014/15
Approved Posts

2014/15
Number of 
Employees

2014/15
Vacancies % of Vacancies

Business Development 4 10 5 5 50.00%

Public Engagement 7 8 7 1 10.00%

Governance 7 8 7 1 9.00%

Executive Management 4 5 4 1 20.00%

Middle Management 6 9 6 3 33.00%

Staff 15 17 15 2 13.33%

TOTAL 25 31 25 6 24.00%

   4.2.6 Reasons for Vacant Post
      (1) Unfunded
      (2) 3 = awaiting restructuring process.

   4.2.7 Employment Changes

Salary Band Employment at 
Beginning of Period Appointments Terminations Employment at the 

End of the Period

Executive management 0 0 0 0

Middle Management 0 0 1 0

Staff 0 0 0 0

TOTAL 0 0 0 0
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   4.2.8 Reasons for Staff Leaving

Reason Number % of total number  
of staff leaving

Death 0 0

Resignation 1 4 %

Dismissal 0 0

Retirement 0 0

Ill health 0 0

Expiry of contract 0 0

Other 0 0

TOTAL 1 4 %

   4.2.9 Attempts Made to Retain Staff
      Qualifying staff of the museum, and as per the museum study policy is encouraged to capacitate 

themselves through studying and attending training courses, budget allowing. They are also encouraged 
to see the Nelson Mandela Museum not only as just another employment agency, but also as an institution 
that seeks to transform the lives of South Africans through the story of Nelson Mandela. In other words, 
museum staff is encouraged to see themselves as change agents.

   4.2.10 Labour Relations: Misconduct and Disciplinary Action

Ill health 0

Expiry of contract 0

Nature of disciplinary Action 0

Verbal warning 1

Written warning 0

Final written warning 0

Dismissal 0

Donation to a creche Winter School participants class of 2014 showing South Africa’s Diverse cultures
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   4.2.11 Equity Target and Employment Equity Status

Level

MALE

African Coloured Indian White

Current Target Current Target Current Target Current Target

Executive Management 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Middle Management 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Staff 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL 15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Level FEMALE

African Coloured Indian White

Current Target Current Target Current Target Current Target

Executive Management 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Middle Management 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Staff 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL 10 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

   4.2.12 Disabled Staff

Level Disabled Staff

Male Female

Current Target Current Target

Executive Management 0 0 0 0

Middle Management 0 0 0 0

Staff 1 0 0 0

TOTAL 1 0 0 0

4.3 Organisational Development
   The Nelson Mandela Museum Council adopted a new 5 years strategy. The implementation of the strategy started 

this financial year, 2015/16.  In line with the new strategy, the museum is undergoing a process of restructuring 
which is aimed at ensuring that the new strategy is supported by an organisational structure that is fit for purpose.

   4.3.1 Resignations and Terminations 
      In 2014, one member of staff resigned.  

   4.3.2 Human Resources Alignment
      The restructuring process is aimed at aligning the staff of the museum in accordance to the training they 

have received. The process of restructuring also aims at auditing the qualifications of staff members.
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   4.3.3 Labour Relations Matters
	 	 	 	 	 	 The	Council	suspended	the	Chief	Executive	Officer	of	the	museum	in	June	2014.	The	case	is	in	a	process	

of being finalised. Council is managing the matter.

      The National Health and Allied Workers Union (NEHAWU) is one of the recognised unions at the Nelson 
Mandela Museum since the majority of staff are its members. Two staff members were appointed by 
NEHAWU to represent the interest of their members. It should be mentioned that, the two members are not 
shop stewards since the membership number of museum staff disqualifies them to elect shop stewards. 

   4.3.4 Disciplinary Cases
      One

   4.3.5 CCMA
      There was 1 case and the case was dismissed by the CCMA in favour of the employer.

   4.3.6 Grievances
      There are no grievances that have been lodged under the reporting year. However, staff members in 

staff meetings pointed out that there are certain units of the museum that do not participate in museum 
activities. As a museum, we are continually reflecting and correcting our behaviour where necessary.

   4.3.7 Performance Management System
      Performance agreements are in place for all managers who are appointed under performance contracts. 

Reviews have been completed for the four quarters. Quarterly reports are submitted by each manager 
to the relevant Council committees to monitor the performance of individual and of the Institution 
annual targets. 

   4.3.8 Policy Review
      All museum policies are in a process of being reviewed. This process has been slow and has become 

urgent since most of the museum policies are now becoming out dated.

from right to left: Vuyani Jarana (chairing the dialogue) Shoes Mkebe (speaker) Fanele Mbali (speaker) Gregory Houston, far end an official from the DAC 
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Financial Information
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2015

Type of Financial Statements : Entity

Controlling Department  : Department of Arts & Culture

National/Provincial Entity  : National Public Entity

For the Year Ended    : 31 March 2015

Type of Financial Statements : Public Entities Annual Financial Statements

CONTACT INFORMATION

Chief Financial Officer   : Mr. W Mdludlu
Contact Telephone Number : (047) 532 5110
Contact E-mail Address  : mandelamuseum7@intekom.co.za

Contact at Relevant Treasury : Thomas Matjeni
Contact Telephone Number : (012) 315 5792
Contact E-mail Address  : thomas.matjeni@treasury.gov.za

Auditors       : Auditor General of South Africa
Contact Telephone Number : (043) 709 7200
Contact E-mail Address  : Sivuyile Ndabambi: sivuyilen@agsa.co.za

Preparer       : Mfuneko W. Mdludlu
Contact Telephone Number : (047) 532 5110
Contact E-mail Address  : mandelamuseum@intekom.co.za

Internal Auditors    : Rakoma & Associates Inc.
Contact Telephone Number : (043) 721 0863
Contact E-mail Address  : philemonm@rakoma.co.za
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Museum Council’s Report
For the Year Ended 31 March 2015 

1 General Information
 The Role of the Council of the Nelson Mandela Museum

 In accordance with the provisions of the Public Finance Management Act, Act 1 of 1999, (PFMA) as amended by Act 29 of 
1999, and the Treasury Regulations, the Council of the Nelson Mandela Museum, (the Council) is the Accounting Authority. 
Its role includes the submission to the Executive Authority general information such as Annual Financial Statements and 
Performance Information by 31 May each year.  

2 Statement of Responsibility
 The Public Finance Management Act (Act 1 of 1999) as amended requires the Council to ensure that the Nelson Mandela 

Museum keeps full and proper records of its financial affairs. The Annual financial statements should fairly present the 
state of affairs of the Nelson Mandela Museum, its financial results, its performance against pre-determined objectives 
and its financial position at the end of the year in terms of the Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP) and in 
the manner required by the Companies Act 1973 in South Africa (Act No. 61 of 1973).

 The Annual Financial Statements are the responsibility of the Council. The Auditor General is responsible for independently 
auditing and reporting on the Financial Statements.

 The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with Statements of Generally Recognised Accounting 
Practice.  These Annual Financial Statements are based on appropriate accounting policies, supported by reasonable and 
prudent judgments and estimates.

 The Council has reviewed the Nelson Mandela Museum’s budget and cash flow projections for the year ended 31 March 
2016.  On the basis of this review, and in view of the current financial position, the Council has every reason to believe that 
the Nelson Mandela Museum will be a going concern in the period ahead and has continued to adopt the going concern 
basis in preparing the Financial Statements.

 The Council determines, introduces and implements systems of internal control and risk management that are designed 
to provide reasonable assurance against material misstatements and losses.  The entity also maintains these controls to 
safeguard assets against unauthorised use or disposal, and for the maintenance of proper accounting records and the 
reliability of the financial information used within the Nelson Mandela Museum.

 The controls contain self-monitoring mechanisms, and actions are taken to correct deficiencies as they are identified.  The 
internal audit function is in place and has been functional throughout the year, and nothing has come to the attention of the 
Nelson Mandela Museum Council to indicate that any material breakdown in the functioning of these controls, procedures 
and systems has occurred during the year under review.

3 Financial results
 Full details of the financial results are set out on pages 49 to 95 in the Financial Statements.

4 Audit Report
 The Audit Report of the Auditor General will be presented on pages 55 to 59.

5 Business Address
 Physical Address:          Postal Address:
 Cnr Nelson Mandela Drive & Owen Street   PO Box 52808
 Bunga Building, Mthatha. 5099      Mthatha. 5099
 In the Annual period until 31 March 2015 the Museum is operating at: 
 Qunu Youth and Heritage Centre
 Qunu Admin Area
 Mthatha
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6 Nature of Entity and its Principal Business
 The Nelson Mandela Museum which is spread over three sites, namely Mvezo site, Bunga Building, and Qunu Youth 

and Heritage Centre is a public entity falling under the National Department of Arts and Culture and was established in 
accordance with the prescripts of the Cultural Institutions Act, Act No. 119 of 1998 and is one of the Cabinet legacy projects.

 Its core business is the conservation of heritage centred on Nelson Mandela, collecting, exhibiting and exercising 
stewardship over heritage resources linked to Madiba inspires people to learn and share from his legacy, impact on 
development through education, culture and tourism.

7 Materiality and Significance Framework for 2014/2015
 In terms of the Public Finance Management Act, Act No. 1 of 1999 as amended, read with paragraph 28.1.5 of the National 

Treasury Regulations, the Council has developed and agreed to a framework of acceptable levels of materiality and 
significance.

8 Opinion and Approval
 In the opinion of the Nelson Mandela Museum Council, based on the information available to date, the Annual 

Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2015, set out on pages 49 to 95 fairly present the financial position 
of the Nelson Mandela Museum at 31 March 2015 and the results of its operations and Cash Flow information for the 
year then ended, fairly comply with the provisions of the Treasury Regulations and the Public Finance Management 
Act (Act 1 of 1999, as amended). 

	 The	Annual	Financial	Statements	set	out	on	pages	49	to	95	were	approved	by	the	Museum	Council	on	29	July	2015	and	
are signed on its behalf by:

 Noel Solani                                                              Nozuko Yokwana
 Acting Chief Executive Officer                                               Chairperson of Council

	 Date:	29	July	2015	 	 	 	 	 	 	 						 	 	 	 	 	 Date:	29	July	2015	
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   Management Report
   For the Year Ended 31 March 2015
   Report of the Accounting Officer to the Executive Authority.

   1 General Review of the State of Affairs
    The Nelson Mandela Museum is located in the rural part of the Eastern Cape, Mthatha and Qunu.  This is on 

the N2, halfway between Durban and Port Elizabeth, halfway between the Indian Ocean and the Drakensberg 
Ukhahlamba World Heritage Site.  The Museum sites traverse, include and overlook the authentic landscape of 
Mr. Nelson Mandela’s childhood and retirement.

    The Museum was opened in February 2000 by former president Nelson Mandela and the then Minister of Arts 
and Culture, having been established in terms of the Cultural Institutions Act of 1998.

    Oversight over the Museum, strategic and policy direction are provided by the Council established by the 
Minister every three years.  The current Council commenced its responsibilities in November 2013.

    As an organ of state the Museum delivers its services in alignment with Government objectives.  The Museum 
contributes to social cohesion, patriotism, unity, reconciliation, economic regeneration through tourism 
and its procurement practices, citizen participation and awareness through outreach, education programs 
and exhibitions.  The Museum programs include:  Governance (which deals with administration and Council 
support), Human Resources, Marketing and Communication, Heritage Resources and Infrastructure Services.

    The Nelson Mandela Museum’s results for the year ended 31 March 2015 show a decrease in reserves from  
8,174,633  to R 7,918,746. This results from a cumulative deficit of R 255,887 realised during the year under 
review.

    The Nelson Mandela Museum received most of its funding from the subsidy allocations from the National 
Government through the Department of Arts and Culture.  Total revenue collected by the Nelson Mandela 
Museum including finance income for the period under review decreased by0.38 % from R 23,042,378 to R 
22,954,272 compared to same period last year.  This decrease is attributable to net of an inflationary increase 
in grant allocation, decrease in collection in Qunu rental as well as decrease in project expenditure recognized 
as revenue.  The grant from the Department of Arts and Culture accounted for 87.7% of the total revenue while 
4.9% is project expenditure recognized as revenue on project implementation with 1.77% realized as our own 
income generated through rental of conference facilities and charge for accommodation at Qunu Youth and 
Heritage Centre, and 5.69% as interest from investments as well as donations.  

    The operating expenditure for the period under review including finance costs is R 23,210,159 eliciting an 
increase of R1,701,726 from the expenditure recorded in the previous period.  The operating expenditure is 
made up of 39.7% fixed costs of personnel, 21.01% administrative expenses, 6,72% Audit fee, 0.01% finance 
costs and 32,57% other operating expenses which constitute the core business of the organization with 
expense categories like exhibition expenses and advertising and promotion forming a major part, and Security 
expenses as major contributors as well.

    The Nelson Mandela Museum is a going concern with a budget of R 21 143 000 for the Year 2015/2016.  The 
Museum will continue to adopt a going concern basis in preparing its annual financial statements in the period 
ahead as the budget indicates.  The institution is still affected by under capacity which results into slower 
turnaround times in strategic areas as a result of undercapitalization or faulty baseline funding but the Nelson 
Mandela Museum Council is untiring in its endeavors to address the situation.

    While a great deal of work still needs to be done to improve the baseline funding to facilitate meeting targets set 
in the Museum’s strategic plan, the results for the year under review demonstrate progress, and management 
remains committed to achieving the strategic objectives set by Council.



53

PART E | Annual Financial Statements
nelson mandela museum annual report 2015

   2 Services Rendered by the Nelson Mandela Museum
    The core business of the Nelson Mandela Museum is education from and conservation of Heritage Resources 

centered around Nelson Mandela in context, collecting, exhibiting and exercising stewardship over heritage 
resources linked to Madiba, inspire people to learn and share from his legacy, impact on development through 
education, culture and tourism.  To achieve this objective the Museum uses guided and unguided tours, public 
programs (indoor and outdoors), formal outreach like use of popular programmes to reach people and make 
an impact.

    In the course of conducting its business the Museum has identified the sale of memorabilia, books and services 
like conference venues and accommodation as key income generating mechanisms.

   3 Tariffs
    Tariffs are charged for rental of conference facilities, supply of sleeping accommodation, hiring out of busses as 

means of transport, and prices are fixed for the sale of books and golf shirts.  These have been determined by 
benchmarking against the conference facilities rentals charged in this area as well as the consideration of the 
Museum operating costs.  The Nelson Mandela Museum reviews its tariffs on an annual basis as well as when 
there are supplier price changes.

   4 Capacity Constraints 
    As a result of deficiency in funding occasioned by an anomaly in the original baseline funding, the Nelson 

Mandela Museum is unable to elicit desired growth in human capital in order to realize its full potential as it 
is unable to employ the necessary staff required to fulfill its core function activities and supporting functions.  
However, a couple of posts have been filled during the period under review.

    Capacity constraints delayed the institution and completion of a number of projects, and also affected the 
ability of the Museum in addressing compliance with various pieces of legislation and regulations.  However, 
the Nelson Mandela Museum has a Supply Chain Management Policy in place and has filled the post of a 
Supply Chain Manager to drive the procurement process.

   5 Donation Box
    The Nelson Mandela National Museum has established a Donations Box but it is temporarily not operating due 

to Bhunga upgrade which is still in progress.

   6 Equipment for Qunu
    Although the equipping of the Qunu Youth and Heritage Centre has been substantially done and Qunu Youth 

and Heritage is operational in conferencing and accommodation arrangements, the equipping exercise is still 
in process as accommodation and conference facilities need constant improvement.

   7 Museum Shop
    The Nelson Mandela Museum Memorabilia shop has been temporarily closed due to the upgrading of Bhunga 

node of the Museum which is in progress until next financial year.

   8 Opinion
    In the opinion of the Nelson Mandela Museum Management, based on the information available to date, the 

Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2015, set out on pages 49 to 95 fairly present the 
financial position of the Nelson Mandela Museum at 31 March 2015 and the results of its operations and Cash 
Flow information for the year  then  ended, fairly comply with the provisions of the Treasury Regulations and the 
Public Finance Management Act (Act 1 of 1999, as amended) and were approved by the Museum Management.
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   9 Conclusion
    Over the period of time, the museum is progressively improving its skills base by providing funding to internal staff 

to study in critical fields. This assisted the museum in improving its capacity to deliver on its mandate. Like all other 
institutions, there are critical scarce skills required that the museum has been unable to fill, and to attract them, the 
museum requires the restructuring of its budget to reflect the needs of the institution. This will require aggressive 
fund-raising methods for programming and other special projects.

Noel Solani
Acting Chief Executive Officer
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Report of the Auditor-General 

49 to 95
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Statement of Financial Position    
as at 31 March  2015

Notes March 2015 March 2014 

 R R 

ASSETS

Non Current Assets 2,796,682 3,613,380 

Property, Plant and Equipment 2 2,796,682 3,613,380 

Current Assets                   27,943,082 26,777,949

Inventory 3 234,418 4,215 

Receivables from Exchange Transactions    32 231,922 674,850 

Cash and Cash Equivalent 4 27,476,742 26,098,884 

TOTAL ASSETS                                      30,739,764  30,391,329 

LIABILITIES

Non- Current Liabilities - - 

Finance Lease Liability – Non- Current Portion 8 - - 

     

Current Liabilities                  22,821,015 22,216,696

Payables from Exchange Transactions            5            
1,691,536 1,306,663

Finance Lease Liability – Current Portion 8 - 45,447

Unspent Conditional Grants 7 21,129,479 20,864,586 

TOTAL LIABILITIES             22,821,015 22,216,696

NET ASSETS                         7,918,746 8,174,633

CAPITAL RESERVES

Accumulated Surplus/(Deficit)  10 7,918,746 8,174,633 

 

TOTAL NET EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 30,739,764 30,391,329 
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Notes March 2015 March 2014 

 R R 

REVENUE

Revenue from Exchange Transactions 1,711,014 1,940,652

Sales of Goods                     11 - 1,143 

Other Income                                                                   14 406,215 730,131

Finance Income 19 1,304,799 1,209,378

Revenue from Non-exchange Transactions 21,243,258 21,101,726 

Transfers and Subsidies                                                    12 21,240,988 21,100,896

Gifts, Sponsorship and Donations 13 2,270 830 

TOTAL REVENUE 22,954,272 23,042,378

EXPENDITURE

Cost of Sales                                                                                                - (978)

Administrative Expenses                                                       15 (4,876,761) (3,403,506) 

Staff Costs                                       16 (9,213,338) (8,693,055 )

Audit Fees                                                                            17 (1,558,549) (1,272,380) 

Other Operating Expenses              18  (7,559,855) (8,131,137)

TOTAL EXPENDITURE  (23,208,503) (21,501,056)

Surplus/Deficit from Operations (254,231)  1,541,322

Finance Costs                                                                     20 (1,656) (7,377) 

  

Surplus/(Deficit) for the Year         (255,887) 1,533,945     

            

Statement of Financial Performance    
For the Year Ended 31 March  2015
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Notes March 2015 March 2014 

 R R 

Balance at 1 April 2014 as Originally Stated                      - 5,547,337

Correction of Prior Year Error 23         - 1,093,351

As Restated 8,174,633 6,640,688

Surplus/(Deficit) for the Year         (255,887) 1,533,945

Balance as at the End of the Year       10 7,918,746 8,174,633 

Statement of Changes in Nett Assets 
For the Year Ended 31 March 2015        
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Cash Flow Statement     
For the Year Ended 31 March 2015    

Notes March 2015 March 2014 

 R R 

Cash Generated from/(utilized in) Operations         20                           (186,215)                                                                                                                608,425

Interest Received 1,304,799 1,209,378

Interest Paid (1,656) (7,377)

Net Cash Inflows/Outflows from Operating Activities 1,116,928                      1,810,426

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Acquisition of:

Property, Plant and Equipment 2 (3,962) (208,124) 

Net Cash Flow from Investing Activities (3,962)  (208,124)

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Increase/(Decrease) in non-current Liabilities

Conditional Grants 264,893 (2,193,656) 

Finance Leases - (45,447) 

Net Cash Flow from Financing Activities 264,893  (2,239,103)

Net increase/(decrease) in Cash and Cash equivalent 1,377,858 (636,800)

             

Cash and Cash equivalents at beginning of the Year 26,098,884 26,735,689 

Cash and Cash equivalents end of the year                  4 27,476,742 26,098,884
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 March 2015

Statement of comparison of Budget and Actual amounts

Statement of financial performance           24 Actual R  Budgeted R Variance R % Variance 

Sales of Goods - Exchange  Transactions                    - -    - 0.00%

Other Income                                                                   406,215 772,128 -365,913                                         -47.40%

Transfers and Subsidies                                                    21,240,988 20,124,000 1,116,988                                          5.55%

Gifts, Sponsorship 2,270 -             2,270 100.00%

Finance Income 1,304,799 169,404 1,135,395 670.23%

Total revenue 22,954,272 21,065,532 1,888,740 4.08%

EXPENDITURE

Cost of Sales                                                                         - -   -  0.00%

Administrative Expenses                                                       (4,876,761) (3,310,330) (1,566,431) 47.30%

Staff Costs                                                                            (9,213,338) (11,077,040) 1,863,702 16.82%

Audit Fees                                                                            (1,558,549) (201,240) (1,357,309) -674.40%

Other Operating Expenses                                                    (7,559,855) (7,817,527) 257,672 3.30%

TOTAL EXPENDITURE (23,208,503) (22,406,137) -802,366 3.42%

Surplus/(Deficit) from Operations (254,231) (1,340,605) 1,086,374 6.85%

Finance Costs                                                                     (1,656) - (1,656 ) -100.00%

Surplus/(Deficit) for the Year (255,887)          (1,340,605) 1,084,718 80.91%
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 March 2015

1. Accounting Policies
1.1  Reporting Entity
   These financial statements are for the Nelson Mandela Museum.  The financial statements encompass the reporting 

entity as specified in the Public Finance Management Act (Act No. 1 of 1999)

1.2 Basis of Preparation
   The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with Statements in Generally Recognised 

Accounting Practice (GRAP) issued by the Accounting Standards Board in accordance with Section 55 of the 
Public Finance Management Act (Act No. 29 of 1999).  The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared on 
an accrual basis of accounting using the going concern assumption and are in accordance with the historical 
cost basis incorporating the principal accounting policies as set below unless specified otherwise.  Accounting 
policies for material transactions, events or conditions not covered by the GRAP reporting framework, have been 
developed in accordance with paragraphs 7, 11 and 12 of GRAP 3 and the hierarchy approved in Directive 5 issued 
by the Accounting Standards Board.  Assets, Liabilities, Revenues and expenses have not been offset except where 
offsetting is required or permitted by a Standard of GRAP.  These accounting policies are consistent with the 
previous period, unless explicitly stated.   The details of any changes in the accounting policies are explained in 
the relevant policy.  The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these Financial Statements are 
set out below.

1.3 Presentation Currency
   The Financial Statements are presented in South African Rand, which is the functional currency of the entity.  

Unless stated otherwise, all figures have been rounded off to the nearest Rand.

1.4 Going Concern Assumption
   These Annual Financial Statements have been prepared on the assumption that the entity will continue to operate 

as a going concern for at least the next twelve months.

1.5 Comparative information
   When the presentation or classification of items in the Annual Financial is amended, prior period comparative 

amounts are restated.  The nature and the reason for reclassification are disclosed.  Where accounting errors have 
been identified in the current year, the correction is made retrospectively as far as is practicable, and the prior year 
comparatives are restated accordingly.  Where there has been a change in accounting policy in the current year, the 
adjustment is made retrospectively as far as practicable, and the prior year comparatives are restated accordingly.

1.6 Significant Judgments
   1.6.1 Receivables from Exchange and Non-Exchange Transactions
      The entity assesses its loans and receivables for impairment at each reporting date.  In determining 

whether an impairment loss should be recorded in the Statement of Financial Performance, the 
entity makes judgments as to whether there is observable data indicating a measurable decrease in 
the estimated future cash flows from a financial asset.  The impairment for loans and receivables is 
calculated on a portfolio basis, based on historical loss ratios, adjusted for national and industry-specific 
economic conditions and other indicators present at the reporting date that correlate with defaults on 
the portfolio.  These annual loss ratios are applied to loan balances in the Portfolio and scaled to the 
estimated loss emergence period.
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   1.6.2 Allowance for Slow Moving, Damaged and Obsolete Stock
      An Allowance for stock that is older than 5 years and is projected to take more than 5 years to sell is 

provided for in full.  Any stock that is physically identified as damaged is written off when discovered.

      Impairment Testing
      Management used value in use or fair value less cost to sell to determine the recoverable amount of 

assets that may have been impaired.

      Provisions
      Provisions were raised and management determined an estimate based on information available.  

Additional disclosure of these estimates of provisions are included in note 6- Provisions are measured in 
the management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the reporting date.

1.7 Property, Plant and Equipment
   Initial Recognition and Measurement
   The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognized as an asset when:

   (a) It is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the entity;   and

   (b) The cost of the item can be measured reliably.

   Costs include costs incurred initially to acquire or construct an item of property, plant and equipment and costs 
incurred subsequently to add to, replace part of, or service it.  If a replacement cost is recognized in the carrying 
amount of an item of property, plant and equipment, the carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognized.

   The initial estimate of the cost of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on which it is located 
is also included in the cost of property, plant and equipment.

   Subsequent Measurement
   Property, plant and equipment is carried at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 

impairment losses.  Depreciation is written off over the useful life of the assets to the residual value using the 
straight line method.

   The useful life of the assets is estimated as follows:
   Motor Vehicles     5 years
   Computer Equipment   3 years
   Office Equipment    6-7 years
   Furniture and Fittings   6-7 years
   Other Non-Current Assets  5 years
   Building and structures   10 years 

   The assets residual value and the useful life are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate, at each financial year end. 
Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost 
of the item shall be depreciated separately. The depreciation charge for each period is recognized in the profit 
or loss unless it is included in the carrying amount of another asset. An item of property plant and equipment is 
derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain 
or loss arising from the de recognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds 
and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the profit or loss in the year the item is derecognized. 

   Assets held under a finance lease are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned 
assets. If there is no reasonable certainty that the entity will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the 
assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and its useful life. 
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   Impairments 
   The residual value, useful life of an asset and the depreciation method is reviewed annually and any changes are 

recognized as a change in accounting estimates in the Statement of Financial Performance. 

   The entity tests for impairment where there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. An assessment of 
whether there is an indication of impairment is done at the reporting date. Where the carrying amount of an 
item of property, plant, and equipment is greater than the estimated recoverable amount (or service amount) it is 
written down immediately to its recoverable amount (or recoverable service amount) and an impairment loss is 
charged to the Statement of Financial Performance. 

   Subsequent Expenditure
   Repairs and maintenance are generally charged to expenses during the financial period in which they are incurred. 

However, major renovations are capitalized and included in the carrying amount of the asset when it is probable 
that the future economic benefits in excess of the originally assessed standard of performance of the existing asset 
will flow to the company, Major renovations are depreciated over the remaining useful life of the related asset. 

   Heritage Assets
   Heritage assets, which are culturally significant resources and which are shown at cost, are not depreciated due 

to the uncertainty regarding their estimated useful lives. The impact on the financial statements is that heritage 
assets have not been valued.

   Accounting policies for material transactions, events or conditions not covered by the GRAP reporting framework, 
have been developed in accordance with paragraphs 7, 11, and 12 of GRAP 3 and the hierarchy approved in 
Directive 5 issued by the Accounting Standards Board.

   Assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses have not been offset except where offsetting is required of permitted by 
a Standard of GRAP.

   These accounting policies are consistent with the previous period, unless explicitly stated. The details of any 
changes in accounting policies are explained in the relevant policy. 

1.8 Financial Instruments 
   Initial Recognition
   The entity classifies financial instruments, or their component parts, on initial recognition as a financial asset, a 

financial liability or a residual interest instrument in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement. 

   Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized on the entity’s Statement of Financial Position when the 
entity becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

   Financial instruments are initially measured at cost (or fair value if significant difference), plus in the case of financial 
instruments not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. The fair value of the financial instrument that 
is initially recognized is normally the transaction price, unless the fair value is evident from the observable market 
data. The entity uses a discounted cash flow model which incorporates entity – specific variables to determine the 
fair value of the financial instruments that are not traded in an active market. 

   Subsequent Measurement
   Financial assets are categorized according to their nature as either financial assets at fair value through surplus or 

deficit, held-to-maturity, loans and receivables, or available-for-sale. Financial liabilities are categorized as either at 
fair value through surplus or deficit or financial liabilities carried at amortised cost (“other). The classification depends 
on the purpose for which the entity acquired the financial assets. 
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   Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss
   This category has two sub classifications, namely, financial assets held for trading and financial assets designated 

as at fair value through profit or loss at the inception of the instrument.  Derivative instruments are classified as 
held for trading unless they qualify as designated and hedging instruments.

   Payables from Exchange and Non-Exchange Transactions and  
Other Borrowings

   Financial liabilities consist of trade payables and borrowings.  They are categorized as financial liabilities at 
amortised cost and are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost which is the 
initial carrying amount, less repayments, plus interest.

   Cash and Cash Equivalents
   Cash and cash equivalents are classified as financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss.  Cash and Cash 

equivalents consists of cash in the bank and short term deposits, and other short-term investments that are highly 
liquid and can readily be converted into cash

   Financial assets are designated into this category when their accounting treatment in terms of this category results 
in more relevant information than accounting in terms of another category or it is a contract that contained one 
or more embedded derivatives.

   Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are initially measure at fair value excluding any transaction 
costs.  Subsequently these assets are measured at fair value, with gains and losses recognized in profit or loss.  Net 
gains or losses consist of fair value adjustments and gains and losses on derecognition and they are included in 
“other income” or “other expenses”.  Interest and Dividend Income are reported separately from net gains or losses.  
Interest income, calculated using the effective rate method, is included in “interest income”.

   Held to Maturity and Loans and Receivables
   These financial assets are initially measured at fair value plus direct transaction costs.

   At subsequent reporting dates these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less 
any impairment loss recognized to reflect irrecoverable amounts.  An impairment loss is recognized in profit or 
loss when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired, and is measured as the difference between the 
investment’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective 
interest rate computed at initial recognition.  Impairment losses are reversed in subsequent periods when an 
increase in investment’s recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment 
was recognized, subject to the restriction that the carrying amount of the investment at the date of impairment is 
reversed shall not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognized. 

   Financial assets that the company has a positive intention and ability to hold to maturity are classified as held to 
maturity.

   Receivables from Exchange Transactions and Non-Exchange Transactions
   This category represents non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 

in an active market.  It includes short-term receivables, such as trade and other receivables, and long-term 
receivables such as loans granted.  This category may also include financial assets that would have been impaired 
or past due if the terms of the instrument were not renegotiated.

   Loans and receivables are initially measured at fair value, plus transaction costs.  Subsequently, items included in 
this category are measured at the amortised cost, calculated based on the effective interest method, and interest 
income is included in profit or loss for the period.  Net gains or losses represent reversals of impairment losses, 
impairment losses and gains and losses on derecognition.  Net gains and losses are included in “other income” or 
“other expenses”.
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   Short-term receivables with no stated interest rate are measured at the original invoice amount, if the effect of 
discounting is immaterial.

   Impairment losses are recognized on loans and receivables when there is objective evidence of impairment.  An 
impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss when the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable 
amount.  The recoverable amount is calculated as the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted 
at the original effective interest rate of the instrument.

   Assets that are individually significant are considered separately for impairment. When these assets are impaired, 
and impairment loss is recognized directly against the related asset.  Assets that are individually significant and that 
are not impaired and groups of small balances are considered for impairment on a portfolio basis, based on similar 
credit risk. Impairment losses are recognized in an “allowance account for credit losses” until the impairment can 
be identified with an individual asset, and at that point, the allowance is written off against the individual asset.

   Financial Instruments carried on the statement of Financial Position include Cash, Bank balances, Call and Notice 
Deposits, Receivables and Payables and are measured at cost.

1.9 Foreign Currency Transactions
   Transactions in foreign currencies are accounted for at the rates of exchange ruling on the date of the transactions.  

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates of exchange ruling at 
the reporting date. Unrealised differences on monetary assets and liabilities are recognized in profit or loss in the 
period in which they occur.

1.10 Inventories
   Inventories are initially measured at cost and subsequently at the lower of cost or net realizable value.  Any write-

down to net realizable value is recognized in the profit or loss.  Cost comprises direct materials, direct labour costs 
and those overheads that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition 
(based on normal operating capacity).  Cost is calculated using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method.  Net realizable 
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less any costs of completion and disposal.

1.11 Payables from Exchange Transactions
   Trade payables are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the 

effective interest rate method.

1.12 Leases
   A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership.

   A lease is classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental 
to ownership.

   Finance Leases – Lessee
   Finance leases are recognized as assets and liabilities in the balance sheet at amounts equal to the fair value of the 

leased property or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments.  The corresponding liability to the 
lessor is included in the balance sheet as a finance lease obligation.

   The discount rate used in calculating the present value of minimum lease payments is the interest rate implicit 
in the lease.

   The lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and reduction of the outstanding liability.  The 
finance charge is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of the 
remaining balance of the liability.
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   Operating Leases – Lessee
   Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.  The difference 

between the amounts recognized as an expense and the contractual payments are recognized as an operating 
lease asset, this liability is not discounted.  Any contingent rents are expensed in the period they are incurred.

1.13 Irregular and Fruitless and  
   Wasteful expenditure
   Irregular expenditure means expenditure incurred in contravention of or not in accordance with, a requirement 

of any applicable legislation.  Fruitless and Wasteful expenditure means expenditure that was made in vain and 
would have been avoided had reasonable care been exercised.  All irregular and fruitless and wasteful expenditure 
is charged against income in the period in which they are incurred.

   National Treasury practice note no. 4 of 2008/2009 which was issued in terms of sections 76(1) to 76(4) of the PFMA 
requires the following (effective from 1 April 2008):

   Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified during the current financial year and which was condoned 
before year end and/or before finalization of the financial statements must also be recorded appropriately in 
the irregular expenditure register.  In such an instance, no further action is also required with the exception of 
updating the note to the financial statements. 

   Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified during the current financial year and for which condonement 
is being awaited at year end must be recorded in the irregular expenditure register.

   No further action is required with the exception of updating the note to the financial statements.

   Where irregular expenditure was incurred in the previous financial year and is only condoned in the following 
financial year, the register and the disclosure note to the financial statements must be updated with the amount 
condoned.

   Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified during the current financial year and which was not 
condoned by the National Treasury or the relevant authority must be recorded appropriately in the irregular 
expenditure register.

   If liability for the irregular expenditure can be attributed to a person, a debt account must be created if such 
person is liable in law.

   Immediate steps must thereafter be taken to recover the amount from the person concerned.

   If recovery is not possible, the accounting officer or accounting authority may write off the amount as debt 
impairment and disclose such in the relevant note to the financial statements. The irregular expenditure register 
must also be updated accordingly.

   If the irregular expenditure has not been condoned and no person is liable in law:

   The expenditure related thereto must remain against the relevant programme/expenditure item. Be disclosed as 
such in the note to the financial statements and updated accordingly in the irregular expenditure register.

1.14 Taxation
   The Museum is exempt from taxation in terms of section 10(1) (Ca) (i) of the Income Tax Act.

1.15 Transfers and Subsidies/Government Grants
   An inflow of resources from a non-exchange transaction, e.g grant, other than services in-kind, that meets the 

definition of an asset shall be recognised as an asset when, and only when:  

	 	 	 •	 it	is	probable	that	the	future	economic	benefits	or	service	potential	associated	with	the	asset	will	flow	to	the	
entity; and

	 	 	 •	 The	fair	value	of	the	asset	can	be	measured	reliably.
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   The entity only recognises an asset arising from a non-exchange transaction when it gains control of resources 
that meet the definition of an asset and satisfy the recognition criteria.

   Grants received without any conditions attached are recognised as revenue when the asset is recognised. If the 
entity has satisfied all the present obligations related to the inflow, it recognises an asset in the Statement of 
Financial Position and corresponding revenue in the Statement of Financial Performance.

   If the entity has partially satisfied the present obligations related to the inflow, it recognises an asset and revenue 
to extent that a liability is not also recognised and a liability in the Statement of Financial Position to the extent 
that the present obligations have not been satisfied.

1.16 Provisions 
   The entity recognizes a provision when it has a present obligation as a result of a past event, and it’s probable 

that the entity will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are measured based on the best estimate of the 
expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the reporting date. Where the effect at the time value of 
money is material, the amount of the provision is discounted to present value using a pre-tax rate that reflects 
current assessments of the time value of money. The increase in the amount of the provision as a result of the 
passage of time is recorded in profit or loss for the year. 

1.17 Contingent Liabilities
   A contingent Liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events, and whose existence will be confirmed 

only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control 
of the entity; or A contingent liability is a present obligation that arises from past events but is  not recognised 
because:

   –  it is not probable that an outflow of resource embodying economic benefits or service potential will be required 
to settle the obligation; or 

   – an amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability .

   Contingent Liabilities are disclosed as part of the disclosure notes to the Annual Financial Statements. 

1.18 Employee Benefits 
   Compensation of Employees
   Short – term employee benefits include salaries and wages, short-term compensated absences and bonus plans. 

The entity recognizes a liability and corresponding expense for short-term employee benefits when an employee 
has rendered services that entitle him or her to the benefits. 

   Defined Contribution Plan
   Payments made to defined contribution plans are recognized as an expense on the accrual basis. The Nelson 

Mandela Museum operates defined contribution plans called omed Orion Provident Fund administered by Old 
Mutual and Medical Aid Scheme administered by Bonitas and Liberty Medical Aid Scheme. Once the contributions 
have been paid, the museum has no further payment obligation. The regular contributions constitute periodic 
costs for the year in which they are due and such are included in the staff costs.

1.19 Revenue
   Revenue from Exchange Transactions
   Revenue from exchange transactions refers to revenue that accrues to the entity directly in 

   Return for services rendered or goods sold, the value of which approximates the consideration received or 
receivable, excluding indirect taxes, rebates and discounts.
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   Specific criteria in order to determine if it is acting as principal or agent. The following specific recognition criteria 
must be met before revenue is recognised.

   An exchange transaction is one in which the entity receives assets or services, or has liabilities extinguished, and 
directly gives approximately equal value (primarily in the form of goods, services or use of assets) to the other 
party in exchange.

   Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, 
willing parties’ in an arm’s length transaction.

   Recognition 
   Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the company and 

the revenue can be reliably measured.

   Measurement
   Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of trade discounts and 

volume rebates.

   Rendering of Services
   When the outcome of a transaction involving the rendering of services can be estimated reliably, revenue 

associated with the transaction is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction at the 
reporting date.

   The outcome of a transaction can be estimated reliably when all the following conditions are satisfied:

	 	 	 •	 the	amount	of	revenue	can	be	measured	reliably;

	 	 	 •	 it	is	probable	that	the	economic	benefits	or	service	potential	associated	with	the	transaction	will	flow	to	the	
entity;

	 	 	 •	 the	stage	of	completion	of	the	transaction	at	the	reporting	date	can	be	measured	reliably;	and

	 	 	 •	 the	costs	incurred	for	the	transaction	and	the	costs	to	complete	the	transaction	can	be	measured	reliably.

   When services are performed by an indeterminate number of acts over a specified time frame, revenue is 
recognised on a straight line basis over the specified time frame unless there is evidence that some other method 
better represents the stage of completion.

   When a specific act is much more significant than any other acts, the recognition of revenue is postponed until the 
significant act is executed.

   When the outcome of the transaction involving the rendering of services cannot be estimated reliably, revenue is 
recognised only to the extent of the expenses recognised that are recoverable.

   Service revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting date. 
Stage of completion is determined by services performed to date as a percentage of total services to be performed.

   Sale of Goods 
   Revenue from the sale of goods is recognized when the significant risks and rewards of ownership are transferred 

to the buyer.

   Interest
   Revenue from interest is recognised if it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the entity and the 

amount of revenue can be measured reliably. Interest is recognised, in the surplus or deficit, using the effective 
interest method.
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   Revenue from Non-Exchange Transactions
   Revenue comprises gross inflows of economic benefits or service potential received and receivable by an entity, 

which represents an increase in net assets, other than increases relating to contributions from owners.

   Exchange transactions are transactions in which one entity receives assets or services, or has liabilities extinguished, 
and directly gives approximately equal value (primarily in the form of cash, goods, services, or use of assets) to 
another entity in exchange or gives value to another entity without directly receiving approximately equal value 
in exchange.

   Recognition
   An inflow of resources from non exchange transactions recognized as an asset is recognized as revenue, except to 

the extent that a liability is also recognized in respect of the same inflow.

   As the entity satisfies a present obligation recognized as a liability in respect of an inflow of resources from non 
exchange transaction recognized as an asset, it reduces the carrying amount of the liability recognized, and 
recognizes an amount of revenue equal to that reduction.

   Grant Funding 
   An unconditional grant is recognised in surplus or deficit as other income when the grant becomes receivable. 

Other government grants are recognised initially as deferred income at fair value when there is reasonable 
assurance that they will be received and the entity will comply with the conditions associated with the grant, and 
are then recognised in profit or loss as other income on a systematic basis over the useful life of the asset.

   As an entity satisfies a present obligation recognised as a liability in respect of an inflow of resources from a non-
exchange transaction recognised as an asset, it shall reduce the carrying amount of the liability recognised and 
recognise an amount of revenue equal to that reduction.

1.20 Borrowing Cost 
   Borrowing costs received on conditional grants are recognized on a systematic basis using the percentage of 

completion of the projects in profit or loss. Other borrowing costs are recognized in profit or loss as incurred. 

1.21 Budget Information
   Entities are typically subject to budgetary limits in the form of appropriations or budget authorisations (or 

equivalent), which is given effect through authorising legislation, appropriation or similar. General purpose 
financial reporting by entity shall provide information on whether resources were obtained and used in accordance 
with the legally adopted budget.

   The approved budget covers the fiscal period 1/04/2014 to 31/03/2015. The Annual financial statements and the 
budget are not on the same basis of accounting therefore a reconciliation between the statement of financial 
performance and the budget have been included in the Annual financial statements. Refer to note 21.

1.22 Related Parties
   The entity operates in an economic sector currently dominated by entities directly or indirectly owned by the South 

African Government. As a consequence of the constitutional independence of the three spheres of Government in 
South Africa, Public entities may either be related to the Provincial sphere or the National sphere of Government.

   Management are those persons responsible for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the entity, 
including those charged with the governance of the entity in accordance with legislation, in instances where they 
are required to perform such functions.

   Close members of the Family of a person are considered to be those family members who may be expected to  
influence or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.



74

PART E | Annual Financial Statements
nelson mandela museum annual report 2015

1.23 Accounting Standards and Interpretations 
that have been Issued but are Not Effective 

   The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with Statements of Generally recognized 
Accounting Practice(GRAP) issued by the Accounting Standards Board in accordance with Section 55 of the Public 
Finance Management Act ( Act no 29 of 1999) The Annual  Financial Statements have been prepared on the 
historical cost basis, and incorporate the principal accounting policies set out below. 

   The following are the GRAP standards complied with:
   GRAP 1:   (as revised in 2010): Presentation of Financial Statements
   GRAP 2:   (as revised in 2010): Cash Flow Statement 
   GRAP 3:   (as revised in 2013): Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates & errors
   GRAP 4:    The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates
   GRAP 5:   Borrowing Costs
   GRAP 9:   (as revised in 2010): Revenue from exchange transactions
   GRAP 12:   (as revised in 2010): inventories
   GRAP 13:   (as revised in 2010) leases
   GRAP 14:   (as revised in 2010): Events after the reporting date
   GRAP 17:   (as revised in 2010): Property, Plant & Equipment
   GRAP 19:   (as revised in 2010): Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets
   GRAP 21:   Impairment of non –cash generating assets
   GRAP 23:   (as revised in 2010): Revenue from non -exchange transactions
   GRAP 24:   (as revised in 2010) Presentation of budget information in financial statements
   GRAP 25:   Employee Benefits 
   GRAP 26:   (as revised in 2010): Impairment of cash generating assets
   GRAP 31:   Intangible assets 
   GRAP 104: Financial instruments 

   The following are GRAP Standards that are effective and the entity has opted to use the transitional period until 
2015 for the full implementation:

   GRAP 20:   Related Party Disclosure
   GRAP 103:  Heritage assets
   GRAP 106: Transfer of Functions Between Entities Not Under Common Control 
   GRAP 107: Mergers

   Other GRAP Standards issued but not yet effective that might affect the entity in future are as follows:

   GRAP 18:  Segment Reporting 

   Management has considered all the above-mentioned GRAP Standards approved but not yet effective and 
anticipates that the adoption of these standards will not have a significant impact on the financial position, 
financial performance or cash flow of the Entity.
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 31 March 2015        

2. Property, Plant  
and Equipment

Motor 
Vehicle

Computer 
Equipment

Office 
Equipment

 Furniture 
and 

Fittings 

Capitalised 
Leased 
Assets

Other  
Non-Current 

Assets

Building 
and 

Structures
TOTAL

R R R R R R R R

Opening net carrying 
amount 01 April 2014 474,220 76,944 236,195 1,101,511 38,105 87,096 1,599,309 3,613,380

Gross carrying amount 1,462,313 2,106,958 797,052 3,515,318 579,600 1,299,557 2,024,971 11,785,769

Accumulated depreciation (988,093) (2,030,014) (560,857) (2,413,807) (541,495) (1,212,461) (425,662)       
(8,172,389)

Movements for Period 
ending 31 March 2015 (3,200) (10,476) (99,142) (423,200) (38,100) (53,140) (189,442) (816 700)

Additions - 2,862 - - - 1,100 -                                                              3,962

Depreciation charge (3,200) (13,338) (99,142) (423,200) (38,100) (54,240) (189,442)    (820 662)

Closing net carrying as at  
31 March 2015 471,020 66,468 137,054 678,311 5 33,956 1,409,868 2,796,682

Gross carrying amount 1,462,313 2,109,820 797,052 3,515,318 579,600 1,300,657 2,024,971 11,789,731

Accumulated depreciation (991,293) (2,043,352) (659,998) (2,837,007) (579,595) (1,266,701) (615,103) (8,993,049)

Property, Plant  
and Equipment

Motor 
Vehicle

Computer 
Equipment

Office 
Equipment

 Furniture 
and 

Fittings 

Capitalised 
Leased 
Assets

Other  
Non-Current 

Assets

Building 
and 

Structures
TOTAL

R R R R R R R R

Opening net carrying 
amount 01 April 2013 510,321 226,137             336,669 1,539,555 95,255 280,161 1,590,428 4,578,526 

Gross carrying amount 1,462,313 2,106,958 797,052 3,514,469 579,600 1,284,258 1,832,995 11,577,645 

Accumulated depreciation (951,992) (1,880,821) (460,383) -(1,974,914) (484,345) (1004,097) (242,567) (6,999,119)

Movements for Period 
ending 31 March 2014 (36,100) (149,193) (100,474) (438,044) (57,150) (193,064) 8,882 (965,143)

Additions - - - 849 - 15,299 191,976                                                              208,124

Depreciation charge (36,100) (149,193) (100,474) (438,893) (57,150) (208,363) (183,094) (1,173,267)

Closing net carrying amount 
31 March 2014 474,220 76,944 236,195 1,101,511 38,105 87,096 1,599,309 3,613,380

Gross carrying amount 1,462,313 2,106,958 797,052 3,515,318 579,600 1,299,557 2,024,971 11,785,769

Accumulated depreciation (988,093) (2,030,014) (560,857) (2,413,807) (541,495) (1,212,461) (425,662) (8,172,389)
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For the Year Ended 31 March 2015        

March 2015 March 2014

R R

3. Inventory   

Finished Goods 234,418 4,215

Total 234,418 4,215

4. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and Balances with Banks 406,924 392,443

Short-term Deposit/Investments 27,069,819 25,706,441

27,476,743 26,098,884

For the Purposes of the Cash Flow Statement:

Cash and cash equivalents 27,476,743 26,098,884

5. Payables from Exchange and Non-Exchange Transactions

Accruals 1,035,643 752,501

Leave Pay Accrual 655,893  554,162

Total 1,691,536       1,306,663

Trade and Other Payables are Non-interest Bearing and have an average term 
of 7-30 days

                                                                                                             

6. Contingent Liabilities

Travelling and Accommodation 320 262 320 262

Legal Fees – CEO Disciplinary Enquiry 3 000 000 -

3 320 262 320 262

The amount of R 320 262 is the amount of invoices claimed by Swift Travel and 
Tours with insufficient documentation like Nelson Mandela Museum order 
forms and various suppliers like SAA documentation to back them up dating as 
far back as the year 2013. These invoices are currently disputed until supporting 
documentation is received. In the light of the above argument this possible 
obligation the existence of which will be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of an uncertain event which is not wholly within the control of the 
museum but in this case dependent on Swift Travel and Tours producing the 
said Documentation. An amount of R 3 000 000 refers to legal fees which have 
been estimated by the Museum legal representative to possible be payable by 
the Nelson Mandela Museum to conclude the case against the Museum CEO.
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 31 March 2015        

March 2015 March 2014

7. Unspent Conditional Grants R R

Opening Balance 20,864,586 23,058,242

Add:  Transfers from Other Grants/Receipts 1,255,399 434,980

Less:  Revenue Recognised (990,506) (2,628,636)

  

Closing Balance 21,129,479  20,864,586

Total Unspent Conditional Grants

Analysis for Financial Reporting Purposes: 21,129,479 20,864,586

Current  Portion 21,129,479  20,864,586
 

8. Finance Lease Liability

March 2015 Minimum  
Lease Payments

Future  
Finance Charges

Present Value  
of Minimum 

Lease Payments

R R R

Amount payable under finance leases within one year - - - 

In the second to fifth year inclusive - - -

After five years - - - 

Total finance lease liability - - -

The lease terms range between 3 and 5 years and the average effective borrowings rate is 12%. Interest rates are determined 
on inception. The Museum entered into a Lease agreement with financing company named Fintech for  two Printing 
Machines for a period ranging between 3 and 5 years. Ownership will pass to the Nelson Mandela Museum when the lease 
comes to an end at the end of December 2014. 

No arrangements have been entered into for contingent rent. 

8. Finance Lease Liability (continued)

Amount payable under finance leases within one year 47,100 1,654 45,447                                            

In the second to fifth year inclusive - - -                                        

After five years -   - - 

47,100 1,654 45,447

The lease terms range between 3 and 5 years and the average effective borrowings rate is 12%. Interest rates are determined 
on inception. The Museum entered into a Lease agreement with financing company named Fintech for two Printing Machines 
for a period ranging between 3 and 5 years. Ownership will pass to the Nelson Mandela Museum when the lease comes to 
an end at the end of December 2014.

No arrangements have been entered into for contingent rent.
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March 2015 March 2014

R R

9. Operating Lease

The Museum entered into an operating Lease contract with a financing company named Fintech for two Telephone systems for 
a period of three years ending end of December 2014. The lease is a non-cancellable lease falling due as follows:

Amount payable within one year - 90,296

In the second year to 5 years - -

After 5 years - -

Notes March 2015 March 2014

10. Accumulated Surplus/(Deficit) R R

Balance at 1 April 2014 as Originally Stated              - 5,547,337

Correction of Prior year error                                   23 - 1,093,351

As Restated 8,174,633 6,640,688

Surplus/(Deficit) for the year         (255,887) 1,533,945

Balance as at the end of the year       7,918,746 8,174,633

11. Sale of goods

Book Sales - 1,143

Total - 1,143

12. Transfers and subsidies received

National Departments 20,124,000 18,900,000

Project funds 1,116,988 2,200,896

Total 21,240,988 21,100,896

13. Gifts, sponsors and donations  
       (Annexure 1 Statement of Gifts, Donations and Sponsorship) 2,270 830 

14. Other income

Sundry income 406,215 730,131

Total 406,215 730,131
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March 2015 March 2014

R R

15. Administrative Expenses

Professional fees 398,968 442,758 

Interest Paid 6,187 - 

Stationery and printing 203,017 208,109

Bank charges 69,288 57,639

Cleaning 687,332 630,616

Insurance 213,379 200,958

Bad Debts 69,250 -

Licenses 669,317 336,714

Recruitment expenses 65,579 173,639

Telephone  and postage 862,497 791,843

Training and staff development 463,601 250,968

Subscriptions 20,837 54,583

Legal Fees 1,136,954 209,683

Staff Welfare 10,555 34,738

Workmen’s compensation - 11,258 

Total 4,876,761      3,403,506 

16. Staff Costs

Wages and salaries 8,564,577 8,055,560

 Basic salaries 5,302,826 5,005,906

 - Temporary staff 35,200 61,933 

13th Cheque 129,975 122,382 

Executive director’s emoluments 2,975,655 2,763,511 

Defined contribution plan expense 120,921 101,828 

Social contributions (Employer’s contributions) 363,011 371,495

    - Medical 150,683 218,523 

    - UIF 100,698 74,432 

    - SDL 111,630 78,540

Museum Council Honoraria 285,750 266,000

Total 9,213,338 8,693,055

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 31 March 2015        
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March 2015 March 2014

R R

16. Staff Costs (continued)

Remuneration of the Chief Executive Officer (B.Nyengule)

Annual Salary 917,191 853,188

13th  Cheque and Incentive Bonus 74,938 64,450

Contribution to UIF, Medical and Pension fund 1,785 1,785

Total 993,914 919,423   

Remuneration of the Chief Financial Officer (M.Mdludlu)

Annual Salary 746,430 694,344 

13th  Cheque and incentive bonus 60,986  56,979 

Contribution to UIF, Medical and Pension fund 1,785 1,785

Total 809,201 753,108 

Remuneration of Senior Managers (N.Tetani)

Annual Salary 437,400 406,672 

13th  Cheque and Incentive Bonus -   -   

Contribution to UIF, Medical and Pension fund 1,785 1,785

Total 439,185 408,457 

Remuneration of Senior Managers (N.Solani)

Annual Salary 676,313 629,112 

13th  Cheque and incentive bonus 55,257 51,626

Contribution to UIF, Medical and Pension fund 1,785 1,785 

Total 733,355 682,523 

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 31 March 2015        
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March 2015 March 2014

R R

16. Staff Costs (continued)

Non- Executive Management/Museum Council 

P. Madiba - - 

A. Vikilahle 51,750 51,750

Dr P. Dyantyi - 13,500

Dr Z. Njongwe - -

Prince M. Ndamase - 18,000

Dr B. Mngomezulu - 38,000

Chief P. Holomisa - -

C. Essau - 16,000

N. Yokwana 82,500 42,500

V.	Jarana 29,000 18,000

M. Ditlhake 36,000 12,000

V.Booi 40,000 20,000

P. Grootboom - 6,000

N. Mandela 16,000 -

S.Van Zyl - -

Prof. Sirayi - -

Total 255,250 235,750

Remuneration of the Audit Committee

L. Majova-Songca - 6,750

L. Gadd - 2,000

P. Segoati 4,000 -

D. Saunders - 6,000

K. Buthelezi 22,500 13,500

L. Mangquku 4,000 -

Total 30,500                             28 250 

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 31 March 2015        
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March 2015 March 2014

R R

17. Audit Fee

Statutory Audit 1,558,549 1,272,380

1,558,549 1,272,380

 

18. Other operating Expenses

Consultants, Contractors and Special Services 73,956 80,221

Equipment items expensed as per Entity Policy 23,044 -

Other project expenses 41,898 -

Maintenance, Repairs and Running costs 705,931 762,513

     - Property and Buildings 247,403  222,425

     - Machinery and Equipment 257,165  408,372

     - Other maintenance repairs and Running Costs 201,363  131,716

Depreciation 820,661 1,173,267

Donations 994 17,189

Exhibition Costs 1,177,755 760 823

Transportation and Storage costs 538,131 508,740

Travel and Subsistence 1,681,055 2,554,444

Advertising and Promotion                                                      957,816 884,617

Stock Loss 17,402 -

Functions and Catering 111,217 122,714

Security 1,193,874 1,146,215

Rentals in respect of operating leases                                           216,121 120,394

     - Plant, machinery and equipment 

Total                                 7,559,855 8 131 137

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements 
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March 2015 March 2014

R R

19. Finance Income

      Interest on Cash and Bank Deposits 1,304,799 1,209,378

Total 1,304,799 1,209,378

20. Finance Costs

      Interest on 

      - Finance Leases 1,656 7,377 

      - Other Interest - -

Total  1,656 7,377

                                                                                                   

21. Cash Generated from (Utilised in) 

       Operations

Surplus/(Deficit) for the Year (255,887) 1,533,945

Net Interest Total (1,303,143) (1,202,001)

Interest Received (1,304,799) (1,209,378)

Interest Paid 1,656 7,377

Non-Cash Movements/Working Capital Changes 1,372,815 276,481

Depreciation 820,662 1,173,267

Donations - 17 189

Increase/(Decrease) in Debtors -  -

Increase/(Decrease) in Payables 339,428  (286,153)

Increase/(Decrease)in Provisions    

(Increase)/Decrease in Receivables 442,928  (628 799)

(Increase)/Decrease in Inventories (230,203)  977

Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities (186,215) 608,425

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements 
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March 2015 March 2014

R R

22. Cash Flow from Operating

Receipts 21,862,198 21,205,178

Sales from exchange transactions - 1,143

National Departments 20 124 000 18 900 000

Project Funds 1,116,988 2,200,896

Sundry Income 406,215 730,131

Gifts, Sponsorship and Donations 2,270 830

Decrease in Receivables 442,928 (628,799)

Increase in Inventory (230,203) 977

Payments (22,048,413) (20,596,753)

Goods and Services (13,174,503) (11,617,545)

Employee Costs (9,213,338) (8,693,055)

(Decrease)/Increase in Payables 339,428 (286,153)

Cash Generated from (Utilised in) Operations (186,215) 608,425

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements 
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March 2015 March 2014

R R

23. Prior Period Errors

Line Item affected in Statement of Financial Performance: 

Increase in Transfers and Subsidies - (404 186)

Increase in Staff Costs - 404 186

Increase in Interest Received - (1,138,344)

Decrease in Leave Pay - (35 221)

Increase/(Decrease) in Other Operating Expenses - (413 607)

(Increase)/Decrease in Accumulated Surplus - (1,587,172)

Line Items affected in Statement of Financial Position:

Decrease In Leave Accruals - 35 221

Decrease in Unspent Conditional Grants - 1,138,344

(Increase)/Decrease in Accruals - 413 607

Decrease in unspent Conditional Grants - 679 744

Increase in Accumulated Surplus - (679 744)

Increase/(Decrease) in Net Assets - 1,587,172

During the year it was discovered that an amount of R 404 186 spent on conditional grants during 2013/14 was not 
recognised as revenue as required when the conditions have been met but was processed to staff costs. On realisation of 
this error the amount was processed to special grant income account and the prior year figures were re-stated to amend 
them accordingly. Again the leave records which were missing in the previous year were found and processed resulting in 
an adjustment amounting to R 35 221 being processed as prior year error. An amount of R 413 607 claimed by Swift Travel 
and tours in the previous years but with  insufficient documentation to back it up was reversed as it is being disputed and 
a prior year adjustment affecting accruals was made.

It was also discovered that an amount of R 1 138 344 in 2013/14 and R 679,743.73 in the prior years relating to interest 
earned on the Conditional Grants invested have been allocated to increase the balance on unspent conditional grants 
instead of being recognised as revenue when earned as per the prescripts on GRAP 9. On realising this error the amounts 
were processed as revenue earned and prior year figures were restated to amend them accordingly.

Expenditure amounting to R499,700 which did not meet the definition of unauthorised expenditure was incorrectly 
disclosed as unauthorised expenditure in the 2013/14 financial statements. The comparative figures have been restated to 
correct this prior period error.

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements 
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24.  Explanation for Material Variances:

Variances above 12% are deemed material and explanations for material variances have been detailed below.

Actual  
R

 Budgeted 
R

Variance  
R

% 
Variance 

a. Gifts and Sponsorships                                                                  2,270 - 2,270 100%

When the museum moved from Umtata to Qunu, the donations box was closed and has not been reopened which has 
resulted in the variance as the donations were budgeted for.

b. Sales and Cost of Sales

    Cost of Sales - - - 0%

    Sales of Goods-Exchange  
    Transactions - - - 0%

Sales had not been budgeted for, and no sales have been realised.

c. Administrative Expenses                                                                     4,876,761 3,310,330 1,566,431 47.3%

The unfavourable variance in this catergory is due to  Professional fees, Cleaning expenses, Computer  licences  and Legal 
fees which were not budgeted for as line items.

d. Staff Cost (9,213,338) (11,077,040) 1,863,702 16.8%

The variance is a result of vacant posts which were budgeted for (i.e. Enterprise development senior Manager etc.) and not filled.

e. Audit Fees (1,558,549) (201,240) (1,357,309) -674.4%

R 186,310 was budgeted for which is 1% of the total planned expenditure as required by the Department of National Treasury.

f. Other Operating Expenses  (7,559,855) (7,817,527) 257,672 3.3%

The major contributor to the variance is exhibition expenses, Advertisement and promotion and Security expenses. 

g. Finance Income 1,304,799 169,404 1,135,395 6702%

Major interest is earned on project funds, but the movement in project funds in the year under review is better than planned 
resulting in the increase in financial income.

h. Finance Costs (1656) - (1656) 100%

The Finance costs were not budgeted for in the year under review but the lease charges were all inclusive.
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March 2015 March 2014

R R

25. Reconciliation of budget surplus/deficit with the deficit in the  
       Statement of Financial Performance

Net surplus/(deficit) per Statement of Financial Performance                                       (255,887) 1,533,945

 Adjust for:

 Sale of Goods - exchange transactions - (1,143)

 Transfers and Subsidies received (1,116,988)         (2,469,896)

 Gifts, Sponsorships and Donations received                                                                 (2,270)                    (830)

 Other Income 365,913                  (5,131)

Cost of Sales - 978

Administrative expenses 1,566,431              597,348

Staff Costs ( 1,863,702)        (1,988,947)

Audit Fees= 1,357,309          1,086,070

Other operating expenses (257,672) 601,922

Finance Income (1,135,395)        (1,050,294)

Finance Costs 1,656                   7377

Net surplus/deficit per approved budget (1,340,605)           (1,688,601)

      

26. Irregular Expenditure                             

 Reconciliation of Irregular Expenditure                                                                                                           

Opening Balance                                         1,486,022             1,182,022

Irregular Expenditure-Current year                309,362                 304,000

Irregular Expenditure-Condoned   (177,923)

Total Irregular Expenditure-Awaiting  Condonement    1, 617,461               1,486,022

Analysis of Current Irregular Expenditure  
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Incident Disciplinary Steps/Criminal Proceedings

A total amount of R 863 448(2011/12 –R nil) relating to Non-
submission of Tax Clearance Certificate by various Service 
providers on submission of proposals and quotations for 
procurement of Goods and Services as prescribed by TR 
16A 3.2(a)

An application for condonement of irregular expenditure 
will made to the National Treasury.The amount has been 
disclosed as Irregular expenditure in the Annual Financial 
Statements in accordance with Treasury Regulation no. 
9.1.5 and 28.2.1

A total amount of R 177 923(2011/12- R nil) relating to 
Advertisement of Tender for less than 21 days relating to 
a tender awarded to the Internal Audit Service Provider- 
Rakoma and Associates in accordance with TR 16A 6.3©

An application for Condonement of Irregular expenditure 
was made to the Accounting Authority and was approved. 
The amount has been disclosed as Irregular expenditure 
in the Annual Financial Statements in accordance with 
Treasury Regulation no. 9.1.5 and 28.2.1

A total amount of R 140 651(2011/12 R nil) relating to 
procurement of Goods and Services from Service Providers 
without inviting three quotes and with no deviation 
approval from the Accounting Officer as required by the 
Supply Chain Management Framework and Practice Note 
no.8 of 2007/08 

An application for Condonement of Irregular expenditure 
will be made to the National Treasury. The amount has been 
disclosed as Irregular expenditure in the Annual Financial 
Statements in accordance with Treasury Regulation no. 
9.1.5 and 28.2.1

A total amount of R 62 929 (2013/14- R 304 000l) relating 
to Non-submission of valid Tax Clearance Certificate and 
Declaration of Interest forms by Azalea Promotions and 
Pure Grit, and  Big Box Steel Containers on submission of 
quotations and Invoices for the Procurement of Goods and 
Services as prescribed by TR16A3.2(a)

An application for Condonement of Irregular expenditure 
will be made to the National Treasury. The amount has been 
disclosed as Irregular expenditure in the Annual Financial 
Statements in accordance with Treasury Regulation no. 
9.1.5 and 28.2.1

A total amount of R 41 898(2013/14 -R nil) relating to 
procurement of Goods and Services from Click Travel and 
Tours without inviting three quotes and with no deviation 
approval from the Accounting Officer as required by the 
Supply Chain Management Framework and Practice Note 
no.8 of 2007/08 

An application for Condonement of Irregular expenditure 
will be made to the National Treasury. The amount has been 
disclosed as Irregular expenditure in the Annual Financial 
Statements in accordance with Treasury Regulation no. 
9.1.5 and 28.2.1

A total amount of R 204 535 (2013/14 – R nil) relating to 
procurement	of	IT	Services	from	Joel	Computers	without	a	
valid contract as prescribed by Treasury Regulations as the 
Service Level Agreement had expired.

An application for Condonement of Irregular expenditure 
will be made to the National Treasury. The amount has been 
disclosed as Irregular expenditure in the Annual Financial 
Statements in accordance with Treasury Regulation no. 
9.1.5 and 28.2.1

     

27. Fruitless and Wasteful Expenditure:  

Reconciliation of Fruitless and Wasteful Expenditure R R R R

Opening Balance   - - - -

Fruitless and Wasteful Expenditure-Current Year 24,342 - - -

Fruitless and Wasteful Expenditure-Condoned - - - -

Total Fruitless and Wasteful Expenditure-Awaiting Condonement 24,342 - - -
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Analysis of the Current Fruitless and Wasteful Expenditure     

Incident  Disciplinary Steps or Criminal Proceedings

The Nelson Mandela Museum prepared a Tax return for the 
month of May 2014 consisting of PAYE, UIF and SDL for an 
amount of R 128 993 and submitted the return together 
with payment made per EFT 3767 dated 20th May 2014. On 
the	15th	July	2014	SARS	queried	an	outstanding	payment	
of R121 887.58 with a capital amount of R 97 545.93 
claiming it to be for May 2014. Protracted discussions went 
on until we realised that the amount was accruing penalties 
and interest on a daily basis and the museum decided to 
pay the amount in order to arrest the interest charge with 
discussions are taking place. The calculations therefore 
yielded an amount of R 24 342 as penalties and interest 
hence the Fruitless and Wasteful expenditure.

An application for Condonement of Fruitless and Wasteful  
expenditure will be made to the Accounting Authority. 
The amount has been disclosed as Fruitless and Wasteful 
expenditure in the Annual Financial Statements in 
accordance with Treasury Regulation no. 9.1.5 and 28.2.1

28. Related Parties

Relationships

Controlling Department
The Nelson Mandela Museum has been established by the South African Government through the Department of Arts 
and Culture in terms of the Cultural Institutions Act 1998 (Act No. 119 of 1998) and is ultimately controlled by the National 
Minister of Arts and Culture.

Non-Executive Management
The Nelson Mandela Museum Council is the Governing Accounting Authority of the Institution(see details in note 16)

29. Risk Management

Capital risk management   

NMM is solely dependent on the grant from the Department of Art and Culture.  

The entity receives a grant from the Department of Art and culture. All accruals and commitments in 2014/2015 are accounted 
for on the grant received for 2014/2015 financial year, therefore the entity will meet its expected financial commitments.

Ongoing reviews of cash flows are done to ensure that payments and accruals do not exceed grant received.

Interest rate risk   

The entity limits its exposure by dealing with well established institutions.

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 31 March 2015        



90

PART E | Annual Financial Statements
nelson mandela museum annual report 2015

Less than a Year               Between  
1 and 2 Years

Between  
2 and 5 Years

At 31 March 2015         R R R

Finance Lease    - - -

Trade & Other Payables 1,691,536 - -

1,691,536 - -

At 31 March 2014

Finance Lease 45 447 - -

 Trade & Other Payables 1,306,663 - -

                                                                                                       1,352,110 - -
     

Market Risk       

The entity’s activities expose it primarily to the risks of fluctuations in interest rates.

Interest rate risk refers to the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market interest rates.

Market risk exposures are measured using sensitive analysis. A sensitive analysis shows how surplus, and/or net assets, would 
have been affected by changes in the relevant risk variable that were reasonably possible at the reporting date.

The entity’s interest risk profile consists of fixed and floating rate bank balances which exposes the entity to fair value interest 
rate risk and cash flow interest rate risk and can be summarised as follows:

Financial Assets       

Bank deposits linked to South African prime rate.

Interest Rate Sensitivity Analysis       

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on financial instruments exposure to interest rates at reporting 
date. For floating rate instruments, the analysis is prepared assuming the amount of the instrument outstanding at the 
reporting date was outstanding for the whole year.

The basis points increases or decreases, as detailed in the table below, were determined by management and represent 
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

A positive number below indicates an increase in surplus. A negative number below indicates a decrease in surplus.

As the entity does not have any instruments that effect net assets directly, the disclosure only indicates the effect of the 
change in interest rates on surplus.

There were no changes in the methods and assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis from one year to the next.

March ‘15 March ‘14 

Increase/(Decrease) in interest rates R R

 The estimated increase/(Decrease) in basis points 50 50

 Effect on Surplus 50 50
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29. Risk Management (continued)     

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The entity’s principal financial liability comprises trade and other payables and financial lease liability. The main purpose of 
these financial liabilities is to raise finance for the entity’s operations. The entity has financial asset in the form of cash and 
short-term deposits, which arise directly from its operations.

Classification of Financial Instruments

Mar-15 Loans and 
Receivables 

Financial 
Liability at 

Amortised Cost
Total

R R R

Assets

Cash and Cash equivalent 27,476,743  - 27,476,743      

Liabilities

Trade and Other Payables - 1,691,536 1,691,536

Finance Lease Liability-Current portion  - - -

    27,476,743  1,691,536 29,168,279

Mar-14

Assets

Cash and Cash equivalent  26,098,884              - 26,098,884

Liabilities

Trade and Other Payables - 1,306,663 1,306,663

Finance lease liability-Current portion - 45,447 45,447

     26,098,884 1,352,110 27,450,994

30. Going Concern     

The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis based on the assumption that funds will be available 
to finance future operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities, Commitments and obligations will 
occur in the ordinary course of business in the near future.   

There were no events identified after balance sheet date that require adjustments or disclosure in the financial statements. 

31. Employee Benefit Information     

The entity contributes to the Omed Orion Provident Fund, a defined contribution plan. This fund has been registered and 
governed under the Pension Fund Act, 1956 as amended. 

For the period ending 31st March 2015 the monthly contributions towards the provident Fund are a minimum of 7.5% of the 
employee’s basic salary, which is calculated as the cost to company and a 7.5% is contributed by the employer. The employee 
reserves the right to contribute a larger percentage as and when he/she so decides.

The contributions of R 120,921 (31 March 2014: R 101,828) were expensed in the current period.
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32. Receivables from Exchange and Non-Exchange Transactions

March 2015 March 2014

Receivables are composed of : R R

Receivables from Exchange Transactions 76 037 192 788

Prepayments 154 584  477 655 

Receivables from Non-Exchange Transactions 70,551 4,407

Less Provision for Doubtful Debts (69,250) -

231,922 674 850
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ANNEXURE 1:  Statement of Gifts, Donations  
           and Sponsorship (Unaudited)

    
March 2015 March 2015

Name of Donor Nature of gifts, 
donations or sponsors R R

In Cash Various Donation 2,270 830

Total 2,270 830
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ANNEXURE 2: Detailed Statement of  
          Financial Performance (Unaudited)  
          For the Year Ended 31 March 2015       

March 2015 March 2014

R R

REVENUE

Sales - 1,143 

Government grant 20,124,000 18,900,000 

Conditional Grant conditions met 1,116,988 2,200,896 

Donations received 2,270 830 

Sundry Income 406,215 730,131 

Finance Income 1,304,799 1,209,378 

 22,954,272 23,042,378

LESS: EXPENDITURE

Cost of Sales - 978 

Administrative Expenses 4,213,016 3,073,488

Bank Charges 69,288 57,639 

Bad Debts 69,250 -

Cell Phones 638,563 576,771 

Cleaning 687,332 630,616 

Courier Charges 27,971 52,450 

Insurance 213,379 200,958 

Legal Fees 1,136,954 209,683 

Insurance and Licences 5,572 6,696

Interest Paid 6,187 -

Printing and Stationery 203,017 208,109 

Professional fees 398,968 442,758 

Post box rental 339 359 

Recruitment expenses 65,579 173,639 

Workmen’s compensation - 11,258 

Staff Training and welfare 474,156 285,706 

Subscriptions 20,837 54,583 

Telephone & Fax 195,624 162,263
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March 2015 March 2014

R R

Staff Costs 8,927,588 8,427,055

Casual Labour 35,200 61,933 

Salaries and Wages 8,408,456                            7,891,799 

UIF                                      100,698 74,432 

Skills Development Levy 111,630 78,540 

Pension 120,921 101,828 

Medical Aid 150,683 218,523 

Council Honorarium 285,750 266.000 

Audit Fees 1,558,549 1,272,380 

Statutory Audit 1,558,549 1,272,380

Other Operating Expenses 8,223,601 8 461 155 

Museum Advertising and Promotion 957,816 884,617 

Computer Expenses 669,317  336,714 

Consulting Fees 73,956 80,221 

Depreciation 820,661 1,173,267 

Council Travel and Accommodation 671,149 899,442 

Donations 994 17,189 

Exhibition Expenses 1,177,755 760 823 

Museum Functions and Catering 111,217 122,714 

Leasing Charges 216,121 120,394 

Fuel and Oil 195,792 125,020 

Research and Development 41,898 -

Repairs and Maintenance 504,568 630,797 

Security Expenses 1,193,874 1,146,215

Travel and accommodation-Local 1,009,906 1,655,002 

Replacement Costs 23,044 - 

Transportation and Storage 538,131 508,740 

Stock Loss 17,402 -

TOTAL EXPENDITURE 23,208,504 21,501,056 

Less:  Finance Costs (1,656) (7,377) 

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR (255,888) 1,533,945
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Notes
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